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OPINION 

Factunl Background 

The Appellee, Ashley Rose Friendslrnh, and the Appellant, Corey Lee Farrell, were 

married on October 29, 2007. Friendshuh is a member of the Shakopee Mdewakanton Sioux 

Community ("the Community"); Farrell is not a member of any federally recognized Indian 

tribe. The parties are the parents of one child, who is six years old and who is a member of 

the Community. The parties were divorced on Febmary 2, 2010, by Order of the 

Community's Trial CoU1't, The Court's Order adopted, in its entirety, an agreement (the 

"Agreement,,) that the parties had negotiated. The Agreement took the form of Stipulated 

Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, Order for Judgment, and Judgment and Decree. Both 

patties were represented by counsel during the 11egotiations that led to the Agreement. 

Under the Agreement, the parents agreed "to provide a safe, secure, and drug-free 

environment when the parties' minor child is in their care and custody.111 The parents shared 

joint legal custody of their child; Friendshuh was awarded sole physical custody and Fanell 

was awarded ~'co-equal parenting time," which effectively gave him custody of the child 

1 Stipulated Findings of Fact,, 18. 
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approximately one-half of the time.2 Not.withstanding this an·angement, Fdendshuh agreed 

to pay child support to Farrell, in the initial amount of $4>000 per month.3 In the portion of 

the Decree relating to this stipulated support amount> the parents submitted, and the Trial 

Court adopted, the following statement: 

While this is an upward deviation from the Community's child 
support guidelines and [Friendshuh] is receiving sole physical custody 
of the parties' minor child, [Friendslrnh] agrees that this deviation is 
appropriate based on continuing the standard of living the child has 
been used to while the child is in [Farrell's] care m1d [Friendshuh's] 
desire to maintain that standard of living for the child.4 

After their mardage was dissolved, matters stood as the Agreement and the Trial 

Court's Order contemplated until late May, 2012, when police raided Farrell's home and 

arrested him on charges relating to drngs and drug paraphernalia that were found in the 

home. In response to those events, the Community commenced a Children's Court 

proceeding, which resulted in the Court first suspending Farrell's parenting.time, and then 

restoring it on a limited basis subject to supervision. Consequently, given the parties, 

changed circumstances, Friendshuh filed a motion to modify her child-support obligation. 

On November 19, 2012, without making Findings of Fact, the Trial Court granted that 

motion and reduced Friendshuh's support obligation to $1,000 pe1· month "until further 

Order of the comt." Thereafter, on July 17, 2013, the Children's Court p1'0ceeding was 

closed pursuant to a stipulation of the parents and the Community. In closing the file, the 

Court found that Farrell had complied with his case plan and that additional parenting-time 

provisions, aimed at addressing ongoing concerns about the child's safety had been agreed to 

and were appropriate. 

Farrell then filed a motion seeking l'einstatement of the originally-ordered support 

payments, to which Friendshuh objected, asking that the reduced amount of $1,000 per 

month be retained. But the Trial Court did neither. Instead, on Octobe1· 17, 2013 the Trial 

2/d. 
3 Id.at it 22. In accordance with the parties' Agreement, the monthly child-support payments 
were reduced somewhat after the parties' divol'ce because the payments that Friendshuh received 
from the Community were reduced. 
4 Jd. 
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Court concluded that there was no legal basis under the Shakopee Mdewakanton Sioux 

(Dakota) Community Domestic Relations Code (the "Code") for imposing any child-support 

obligation on either parent. The Trial Court therefore vacated its previous award of support 

to Farrell, 

This appeal followed. 

Domestic Relations Code Provisions Relating to Child Support 

At all relevant times, the Code has contained a number of provisions dealing with 

child support in marriage-dissolution proceedings. Chapter III, Section 7.a. of the Code 

provides that, in such proceedings, " [ c]hild support shall be paid by the non-custodial parent 

as follows , , .," and sets forth a table enumerating the percentage of net income that 

comprises appropriate support fot• varying income levels and numbers of supported children. 

The same section also discusses in detail the manner in which calculations are to be made 

using the table, and it defines cash flows that are and are not to be considered "net income." 

Chapter III, section 7.b, of the Code provides: 

b, Other factors. 

In addition to the child support guidelines, the Court shall take into 
consideration the following factors in setting or modifying child 
support: 

(1) The physical, mental and emotional needs of the child(ren) to be 
supported, as documented by medical professionals or experts 
working dit·ectly with the chilcl(ren), Said services shall be 
necessary for the child(ren) to maintain a healthy existence and may 
include therapy; medical, psychological, behavioral or chemical 
dependency treatment; accommodations for special physical or 
mental needs and special educational requirements in excess of that 
which is covered by Tribal insurance or programs, Said services 
shall not include those items which affect the lifestyle of the child, 
including but not limited to private school attendance and extraM 
curricular activities; and 

(2) The amount of the aid to families with dependent children grant for 
the child or children; and 
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(3) Which parent receives the income taxation dependency exemption 
and what financial benefit the parent receives from it; and 

(4) The parents' debs as provided in subsection (c) [of Chapter III, 
section 7.b.] 

The Court shall not consider the following factor(s): 

(1) The standard of living the child would have enjoyed had the 
marriage not been dissolved; had the pat'ents resided together or 
continued to reside together, 

Chapter III, section 7.d. of the Code sets forth circumstances that will authorize the 

Court to exceed the Guidelines: 

d. When guidelines nrny be exceeded or modified. 

(1) The Court may receive evidence to determine if an upward 
departure from the child support amount delineated in the 
guidelines is appropriate and necessary for the child(ren). An 
upward departure from the guidelines shall only occur if the child 
has medically documented physical, mental or emotional needs, 
including chemical dependency and learning disability needs, which 
require professional intervention or oversight and exceed those 
services provided by Tribal insurance or programs. 

(2) If the Court finds that the child's needs as provided herein require 
additional financial support, beyond that covered by Tribal insurance or 
programs, the Court may, under the above conditions and upon issuance of 
written findings to that effect, award necessary and additional child support 
in a total amount not to exceed $5,000 per family unit. ... 

And Chapter III, section 7 .e. provides -

c. Nature of guidelines. 

The above guidelines are binding in each case unless the Court makes 
express findings of fact as to the reason for departure below or above 
the guidelines. Said findings shal1 be express and shall address each 
of the areas of consideration. In addition, valid medical 
documentation shall be filed with each request for an upward 
depmture from the guidelines. 
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In addition, Chapter III, section 7 .g. of the Code speaks in detail as to when and how 

a child support order may be modified: 

g. Modification of Child Support Award, 

(1) After an order for child support, the Tribal Court may from 
time to time, on motion of either of the parties or on motion of 
the public authority responsible for support enforcement, 
modify the order, and may make an order respecting these 
matters which it might have made in the original proceeding, 
except as herein otherwise provided, 

(2) The terms of a decree respecting child support may be modified 
upon a showing of one or more of the following: 

(i) substantially incl'eased or decreased earnings of a party; 
(ii) substantially increased or decreased need of a child for 

which support is ordered; 
(iii) receipt of public assistance; 
(iv) a change in the cost of living for either party measured 

by the federal bureau of statistics; 

On a motion for modification of child support, the Tribal Court 
shall: 

(v) take into primary consideration the needs of the children 
and shall not consider the financial circumstances of 
each pat'ty's spouse, if any; 

(vi) not consider compensation received by a party for 
employment in excess of a 40-hour work week, 
provided that the party demonstrates, and the Court 
[makes findings not relevant to these proceedings]. 

(3) A modification of child support may be made retroactive only 
with respect to any period during which the petitioning party 
has pending a motion for modification but only from the date of 
service of notice of the motion on the responding party, 
However, modification may be applied to an earlier period if 
the Court makes express findings that the party seeking 
modification was precluded from serving a motion by reason of 
a significant physical or mental disability or a material 
misrepresentation of another party and that the party seeking 
modification, when no longer precluded, promptly served a 
motion. 
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Finally, Chaptel' III, section 7,h, of the Code speaks to termination of child support, as 

follows: 

b. Termination. 

Unless otherwise agreed in writing, with Court approval, ot 
expressly provided in the decree, provisions for child support are 
terminated by emancipation of the child but not by the death of a 
parent obligated to suppol't the child. When a parent obligated to 
pay support dies, the amount of support may be modified, revoked, 
or commuted to a lump sum payment, to the extent just and 
appropriate in the circumstance, 

Notably, no section of the Code discusses the Court's role in situations where 

divorcing parents have come to an independent agreement with respect to child support and 

have sought the Court's approval of their agreement. The Code is also silent on situations 

where child custody is more or less equally shared by the parents. 

Discussion 

In concludhi.g that it had no power under the Code to award of child support to either 

parent, the Trial Court said: 

The court agrees with the observation that each parent has an 
obligation to financially support their children. But the court is 
limited in the setting of an award if the parents share equally in the 
care of the child, The Domestic Relations Code in Section 7(a) 
states that "Child support shall be paid by the non-custodial parent 
, , .. " Here the parents submitted a Parenting Plan which was 
adopted by Order of this court on July 17, 2013. This Plan by its 
nature and intent establishes a schedule and decision-making by 
the parents with respect to the child that cleady creates joint 
custody and responsibility for equal care of the child in each of 
their homes, It is evenly divided to the point whel'e there is no 
non-custodial parent which is required of the court to set an award 
of child support. 5 

5 Memorandum Opinion and Order at 5. (October 17, 2013) (emphasis added). 
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In his appeal, Farrell argues that this was error because it ignored the fact that, when 

they divorced, the parties had agreed that Friendshuh would pay child support at a stipulated 

amount, pointing to a decision of the Minnesota Court of Appeals, 0 'Donnell v, 0 'Donnell, 

which held that there was no basis for modifying a child support award that deviated from 

Minnesota's support guidelines: 

[W] here, as here, the patties entered into a stipulated agreement, 
where both we1·0 represented by counsel, where respondent had 
been actively involved in caring for the children prior to the 
dissolution and had sufficient opportunity to assess their needs and 
expenses, where the parties are well educated, where there is no 
allegation of fraud, mistake, or duress, and most importantly, 
where there is no claim or finding that the best interests of the 
children necessitate a change or were adversely affected by a 
continuation of the support terms of the original judgment.6 

He also argues that the "law of the case" doctrine precluded the Trial Court's revisiting its 

20 l 0 decree; that the Trial Court abused its discretion by modifying child support without 

finding the changed circumstances that Chapter III, section 7.g. of the Code requires; and 

that, if the Code is read not to permit the award of child support in circumstances where 

parents are sharing parenting responsibility, that failure works a harm to the children that it 

affects. 

In our view, however, each of Farrell's first three arguments fails, and each fails for 

the same reason: Friendshuh's agreement that child support would be paid at a higher-than­

Guidelines level was not unconditional. Effectively, she contracted to pay that higher 

amount in return for Farrell's agreement "to provide a safe, secure, and drng-free 

environment when the parties' minor child is in [his] cme and custody." And it is important 

for us to stress, here, that nothing in the Code forbids such an agreement - as the Trial Court 

clearly believed in 2010 when it approved the Agreement. When the General Council of the 

Community amended the Code to limit the reasons for which upward deviations from 

Guidelines-level child support can be made, it did not speak to voluntary agreements by 

Community members. Rather, General Council Resolution 05-15-01-01 stated that its 

purpose was to clearly specify the limits on "the exercise of discretion by the Tribal Court in 

6 678 N.W.2d 471,476 (Minn. Ct. App. 2004). 
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determining awards of child support. " Hence, when Friendshuh agreed to pay $4,000 per 

month to Farrell to ensure that their child would continue to have the standatd of living to 

which he had been accustomed, that was something that the law of the Community 

permitted, and the Trial Court did not exceed its authority when it approved that 

arrangement. 

But when Farrell failed to live up to his end of that bargain, we think it is fair to 

conclude that the Trial Court could properly relieve Friendshuh of her obligation. This was 

neither a deviation from the Trial Court's original decree that was inconsistent with the "law 

of the case" doctrine, nor was it the sort of modification of Court-ordered support that is the 

subject of Chapter Ill, section 7 .g. Rather, it was a consequence implicit in the Agreement, 

and therefore also in the Trial Court's original decree. We conclude, therefore, that the Trial 

Court did not abuse its discretion when it held that Friendshuh was no longer is obligated to 

pay Farrell child support at the level contemplated by the Agreement. 

But matters stand differently as to the Trial Court's conclusion that it lacked the 

powet· to award any child support at all. There is considerable force in Farrell's argument 

that if the Code does not allow the establishment of support obligations when parents are 

sharing parenting responsibility, the effect could well be to discourage such sharing, to the 

detriment of children. We therefore are reluctant to read the Code that way. 

Rather, we think it is reasonable to read Chapter III, section 7.a. of the Code, which 

begins with the statement, "Child support shall be paid by the non-custodial parent as follows 

... " to contemplate a situation where, if parents are sharing custody, each is a non-custodial 

parent for the fraction of time that the child is in the custody of the other parent. This 

reading certainly is permitted by the section's language, and in our view it is more consistent 

with the best interests of the affected children - which was of fundamental importance to the 

Community when it gave this Court domestic-relations jurisdiction - than is the Trial Court's 

interpretation of the section. 

Under the Guidelines, the "income ceilingH that is used to calculate support 

obligations is $7,794.29,7 and therefore a non-custodial parent who is paying support for one 

7 This amount is a function of cost-of-living increases to the ceiling, wot'ked by Chapter III, 
section 7.f. of the Domestic Relations Code. 
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ohlld, and whose income exceeds the maxlmtun specified in the Ouidelines (as Frlcndshuh's 

concededly does), would be obliged to pay 25% oftlmt ceiling amount, 01· $1,948,57, pel' 

month to the custodial parent, Given our reading of Chapte1· III, section 7.a. then, becm1se of 

the pat'tles' shured custody m·rm1geme11t, we conclude that Ft'lendahuh's obligation 8hould be 

half that amount, 01· $974.28 per month, unless the speolflc fuctors eet fo1ih in Chnptel' III, 

sections 7,b, and 7.d, of the Code authorize an upward deviatio11. Having reviewed the 

record, we flnd no physlcnl, mental, or Qmotlonnl needs of the parties' ohlld that would 

justify nn upwurd devlatlon,0 

We therefol'o revet•se the Tl'lnl Court's ordel' and 1·emand to the Tdal Court for entt'y 

of an 01·del' uwordlng child support from Fl'iendshuh to Farrell In the amount of$974.28 pet· 

month, 1·eti·onctive to the first month in which l?l'lendshuh dld not poy child suppo1t in 

l'elicmce on the Tl'lal Coiu't > s October 17, 2013 01'de1•, The Tl'inl Court shall hnve dlscl'etlon, 

pending 1.wgument ft·om 01· ag1·eement of the parties, to detOl'mine whethet' F1•iendahuh should 

pny this retl'Onctlvoly l\wnrdod child suppmt inn lump si1m 01· in Installment payments, 

Dated: April 2, 2014 

8 We note, though1 that our l'ending of the Guidelines could also J\lstify nu awnl'd of child sup1>art 
to Fl'iendshuh fl•om Farrell If he hos 1111et lnco1no11 ns thnt term is det1ned by Chapte1· m, seotiou 
7 ,ii, ot' the Code, But whether Parl'oll hns "oet Income" is not estnbllshed In the record befo1•e us, 
m1d lu MY event, Ft'iendshuh hns not thus fot· requested chlld support from Farrell. 
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CLERK OF COURT 

App. Court File: 040-14 

Before JACOBSON, HOGEN MOLINE, and MASON MOORE, Appellate Judges. 

I. Introduction. 

Tius appeal is from a marriage-dissolution action between Joseph Stephen Lieske 

("Husband") and Cyndy Stade-Lieske ("Wife"), There are two issues before this Court: 

l. Did the Trial Court abuse its discretion by awarding temporary maintenance to 
Husband for a period of 18 months? 

We hold that it did, 

2. Did the Trial Court abuse its discretion in its division of the parties' personal 
property? 

We hold that it did not. 
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last four years of their marriage, Wife paid Husband $8,000 a month, of which $2,000 was 

his "allowance," and the remainder was to pay the parties' joint bills and to "put money 

away for a rainy day." 

Once the parties separated, Husband secured a full-time position as a welder with 

Natural Light Fabric Structures.17 He makes $15 an hour for 40 hours per week and $22.50 

for any overtime after that.18 The Trial Court found that his gross monthly income is 

$2,598.19 It also fow1d that his average overtime earnings per month are $487.13, 20 making 

his gross monthly income $3,085.13 per month.21 His employer also pays his medical and 

dental insurance and has a 401(1<) matching program.22 

Currently Wife l'eceives $64,706 per month in per-capita payments from l:he 

Communily.23 Wife is also now self-employed through her business In A Pickle, for which 

she earns around $550 a month.24 

17 Id. at 164. 
18 Id. at 166-67. 
t9 Id. 
20 Id. 
21 Id. The Trial Court found that Husband failed to provide '' any evidence on his income tax 
rate or anticipated taxes." Tdal Court Order at 10, § XII(D), Husband contests this on appeal 
by pointing out that Husband offered pay stubs with itemized tax deductions. Appellant's 
Br. at 32. 
22 Tr. at 168, 
29 Trial Court Order at 4, § X. 
2,1 Id. 
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B. Spousal Maintenance Award 

The Trial Court's analysis properly started with Section 6 of the Community's 

Domestic Relations Code (the "Code11).25 The Code dictates that the following factors must 

be considered when deciding if spousal maintenance is proper upon the dissolution of a 

marriage: "the length of marriage; contributions, financial and nonfinancial, of both 

spouses; the standard of living to which each spouse has become accustomed; the financial 

needs of both spouses; and any other factor the Court finds appropriate."26 While the Trial 

Court nominally addressed each factor, it did not explain how the factors combined to lead 

to the conclusions that Husband should (a) receive only temporary maintenance and (b) 

should receive only $1,000 per month for 1.8 months. 

C. Property Division 

The factors for property division are the same as they are for spousal maintenance.27 

The Trial Court started by awarding wife her per-capita payments and the marital home.28 lt 

also ordered a number of items the parties were not contesting, including furniture and 

household items, Wife's jewelry, the parties' respective collectables, the In a Pickle business, 

25 Code, Ch. III,§ 6. 
26 Id. 
27 Id. 
28 Trial Court Order at 10, §§ XIII & XIV. 
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and the bank accounts.29 The court went into a lengthy discussion about the different 

vehicles the parties owned and whom they would go to.30 Of the many vehicles the parties 

purchased throughout the marriage, Husband received two of them.31 Husband was 

awarded a 2012 Harley Davidson Motorcycle and a 2008 Ford F450 Pickup.32 The rest of the 

vehicles were awarded to Wife because otherwise, the Trial Court held, it would "be an 

impermissible invasion of Wife's per-capita payments" since the vehicles were purchased 

with per-capita payments.33 

Finally, the court awarded Husband all tools currently in his possession as well as 

"two drill presses, the brake press, the tube bender, the sheer, one drill, one sander, the sand 

blaster, the frame jig and the small Indian motorcycle.113'1 Wife was awarded the remaining 

tools left in the shop within the marital home.3•5 

III, Analysis 

A. Standard of Review 

In reviewing a maintenance award, we apply an abuse-of-discretion standard lo the 

trial court's determination of the amount and duration of an award of spousal 

29 Id. at 16-18, §§ XVII-XXL 
so Td. at 11-16, § XVI. 
a1 Id. 
3?.Jd, 
33 Id. 
34 Id. at 18, § XXII. 
3s Id. 
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maintenance.36 To decide whether a trial court has abused its discretion with respect to a 

maintenance award, we review its findings of fact to see if they are clearly erroneous, and its 

conclusions of law cle novo.37 

The same standard applies to a tdal court's division of property. A trial court 

enjoys ''broad discretion in evaluating and dividing property in a marital 
dissolution and will not be overturned except for abuse of discretion. We will 
affirm the trial court's division of property if it had an acceptable basis in fact 
and principle even though we might take a different approach." Antone v. 
Antone, 645 N.W.2d 96, 100 (Minn. 2002). The [trial] court abuses its discretion 
in dividing property if its findings of fact are ''against logic and the facts on 
the recmd." Rutten v. Rutt-en, 347 N.W.2d 47, 50 (Minn. 1984).38 

With these standards in mind, we turn to the Trial Court's maintenance award and property 

division. 

B. The Maintenance Award 

The Tribal Court may award spousal maintenance in the absence of antenuptial 

contracts or settlement stipulations (neither of which were present here). As noted above, in 

so doing, the Trial Court must consider "length of the marriage; contributions, financial and 

non~financiaC of both spouses; the standard of living to which each spouse has become 

accustomed; the financial needs of both spouses, and any other factor the Court finds 

36 See, e.g., Maiers 'V. Maiers, 775 N.W.2d 666, 668 (Minn. Ct. App. 3009). See also Welch v. 
Welch, 2 Shak. A.C. 11, 17 (Apr. 15, 2009) (citing Chamberlain v. Chamberlain, 615 N.W.2d 405, 
409 (Minn. Ct, App. 2000) (other citations omitted)), 
37 Id. 
38 Schisel v. Schisel, 762 N.W.2d 265, 273 (Minn. Ct. App. 2009). 
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appropriate."39 This means the court "does have the power-and the duty-to consider the 

position that a marriage dissolution will leave the former partners, and to order that a fixed 

stream of payments be made to protect the more vulnerable party from an inequitable 

change in his or her life's circumstances."40 

Moreover, we agree with the Minnesota Supreme Court that 

[c]ertainly, dissolution of a long-term marriage creates financial problems for 
both parties and equity does not demand absolute parity in their post­
dissolution positions, but the bulk of the economic burden should not be 
visited on one party without regard to the parties' standard of living during 
the maniage and without regard to that party's now limited ability to 
complete in the labor market.41 

In this case, we agree with Husband that the Trial Court's decision visited the bulk of the 

economic burden of the dissolution on him. 

1. Length of Marriage 

The first factor we must examine is the length of the marriage.42 In this case, the Trial 

Court found that the parties were married for 18 years, but didn't explain how that fact 

weighed in its analysis.43 Generally, the longer the marriage, the greater the chances that 

39 Code, Ch. III, § 6. Misconduct by either party is irrelevant to the spousal maintenance 
award. Id. 
40 Welch v. Welch, 5 Shak. T.C. 127,130 (Aug. 18, 2008), aff'd in part and rev'd in part, Welch v. 
Welch, 2 Shak. A.C. 11 (Apr. 15, 2009) (plurality opinion). 
41 Nardini v, Nal'dini, 414 N.W.2d 184, 198 (Mfrm. 1987). 
'12 Code, Ch. III, § 6. 
43 Trial Court Order at 8, § XII.A. 
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maintenance wm be awarded, particularly where one spouse is out of the workforce during 

the entirety of the marriage. Yet in this case, the fact that the parties were married for a 

relatively long time seemed to play no rnle in the court's award, which we find to be an 

abuse of discretion, At a minimum, on remand, the Trial Court must clarify how the length 

of the parties1 marriage affects the amount and term of a maintenance award. 

2, Financial and Non~Financial Contributions 

Community law requires that we next consider the parties1 financial and non­

financial contributions to the marriage. In this case, Husband stopped working shortly after 

he and Wife began dating because Wife "wanted [him] to stay at home and help out," 4'1 and, 

with Wife's assent, he remained unemployed tluoughout the marriage. Husband stipulated 

that he made no financial contributions to the marriage.45 Husband did, however, make 

non-financial contributions by doing yard work, home maintenance, cleaning, and handling 

the partles1 finances.46 He also spent time fbdng the parties' vehicles and motorcycles.47 

Finally, while Wife's children were young, he also helped care £or them by dl'iving them to 

44 Tr. at 172 
45 Tr. at 36. 
46 See Trial Court Order at 9, § XII (B); Tr. at 172-173. 
47 Tr. at 177-180. 
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and from their father's house, driving them to and from school, and helping them with 

homework:18 

Almost all of the financial contributions for the marriage came from Wife's per-capita 

payments, which, at the time of trial, were $64,706 per month.49 Wife also made 

approximately $550 per month from her business selling home goods at parties.50 The Trial 

Court made n.o findings about Wife's nonfinancial contributions to the marriage; she 

testified that she was the primary caretaker for her children when they were with her, and 

that she would help "cook and clean here and there, sometimes do laundry."51 

As with the length-of-the-marriage factor, the Court took note of (most of) these facts, 

but failed to explain how they impacted its decision to award only $1,000 per month in 

temporary maintenance for 18 months. Rather, the court devoted most of its findings in this 

regard on how much Husband spent during the marriage, noting "[t]he Court is left with the 

firm impression that not only did Husband not make any financial contributions to the 

parties' marriage, he caused the parties' financial assets to be significantly diminished."52 

48 Tr. at 165. See also Trial Court Order at 9, § XII(B). 
49 Trial Court Order at 4, § X and at 8, § XII(B). 
50 Id. at 41 § X. 
51 Tr. at 41-42. 
52 Trial Court Order at 9, § XII(B). 
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The Court blamed Husband for the fact that "the parties have no investment or retirement 

accounts."53 

In fact, the record is clear that both parties spent a significant amount of Wife's per­

capita payments during the maniage. They did a great deal of b:aveling1 often to Disney 

World, which was Wife's preferred dc~stination.M And /Joth spouses spent significant 

amounts on gambling, with Wife spending hundreds of thousands of dollars per year on 

gambling in 2010, 2011, 2012, and 2013.55 

TI1ey also purchased many vehicles, most of which were encumbered by loans.56 

Several of these were in furtherance of Husband's drag-racing hobby, in which Wife also 

took an interest.57 

We find that the Trial Court abused its discretion by placing no value on Husband's 

non-financial contributions to the marriage. We note, as Husband did on appeal, that the 

Trial Court adopted Wife's proposed findings of fact and conclusions of law almost 

verbatim.58 We agree with the Minnesota Court of Appeals that "wholesale adoption of one 

53 ld. 
54 Tr. at 116-117; 175. Husband testified that "[a]fter a while I tried to get out of the Florida 
trips. You can only go to Disney so many times." Id. at 175. 
55See Petitioner's Exhibits 4-7,9-10. 
56 See, e.g., Trial Court Order at 11-16 (listing 15 vehicles owned at dissolution). 
57 Tr. at 123, 180-184. 
58 Compare Trial Court Order with Petitioner's Proposed Findings of Fact, Conclusions of 
Law, Ordet for Judgment and Judgment and Decree, attached to Appellant's Brief. 
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pm-Ly's findings and conclusions raises the question of whether the trial court independently 

evaluated each party's testimony and evidence."59 While the Trial Court reached its own 

conclusion about awarding maintenance-it awarded $1,000 per month for 18 months 

whereas ·wife had proposed no maintenance at all-it is perhaps because the Trial Court 

adopted the vast majority of Wife's findings as its own that the findings do not match the 

evidence presented in some instances. For example, we hold that it was clear error to find 

that it was Husband's fault alone that the parties didn't have investment and retirement 

funds set aside during their marriage. 

Although the Trial Court found more facts pertaining to this component than the last, 

the analysis is still incomplete. TI1e court didn1t indicate which outc01ne (awarding or not 

awarding spousal maintenance) the facts support. Certainly, no one can deny that Wife 

contributed the most financially to help the marriage and that weighs in her favor. But the 

fact that she also requested Husband quit his job weighs in favor of awarding spousal 

maintenance. The non-financial-contribution evidence demonstrates that Husband made 

significant contributions, and the Court should consider those in its analysis on remand. 

59 Bliss v. Bliss, 493 N.W.2d 583, 590 (Mitm. Ct. App. 1993) (citing Bersie v. Zycad Corp., 417 
NH.W.2d 288, 292 (Minn. Ct. App, 1987)). 
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3. Standard of Living 

The third factor in the maintenance analysis is "the standard of living to which each 

spouse has become accustomed." 60 During the marriage, the parties maintained a high 

standard of living-traveling frequently, purchasing numerous vehicles, and living in a 

house valued at $850,000. We agree with the Trial Court that the parties overspent during 

their marriage, as demonstrated by "the fact that the parties have significant debt tied to 

vehicles without any investment or retirement accounts. The parties have little by way of 

equity in any of the assets they currently have."61 

We also agree with the Trial Court's conclusion that "[t]he standard of living 

established during the marriage is not maintainable by either party."62 Because divorce 

requil'es establishing two households instead of one, it is almost always true that both 

parties will not be able to maintain the same standard of living once divorced that they 

enjoyed while married.63 But the fact that parties crumot continue to live at the marital 

standard of living does not mean that the party with less income must get by with only "the 

bare necessities of life" while the other spouse maintains a high standard of living.64 The 

60 Code, Ch. III,§ 6(a). 
61 Ttial Court Order at 10, § XII(C). 
62 Id. at 9, § XII (C). 
63 See, e.g., Nardini, 414 N.W.2d at 198. 
64 See, e.g., Arundel v. Arundel, 281 N.W.2d 663,666 (Minn. 1979) (reviewing permru1ent­
maintenance award to 51-year-old stay-at-home spouse leaving a 29-year marriage). 
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court's job is to determine how to fairly allocate resources, including by awarding 

maintenance, so both spouses can maintain reasonable standards of living.65 

We recognized in Welch "that the unique character of per capita income is a prop(~r 

factor for the Trial Court to consider in evaluating a request for spousal maintenance, 

including the fact that the nonmember seeking spousal maintenance cannot be considered 

to have assisted. in generating it."66 Because of that, we find it reasonable that a member 

spouse may continue to enjoy a higher standard of living post-divorce than the non-member 

spouse. That does not mean, however, that the standard of living to which the non-member 

spouse has become accustomed is irrelevant to the maintenance analysis. The fact that a 

member spouse receives per-capita payments and can afford to support a reasonable 

middle-class lifestyle for a non-member spouse must be taken into account, and we direct 

the Trial Court to do so on remand. 

4. Financial Needs 

The fourth factoe we must consider in maintenance awards is the "financial needs of 

both spouses."67 Although the analysis is not explicit, it appears the Trial Court relied on 

Welch v. Welch, which held that "what are commonly considered luxury items cannot be 

considered to serve to meet 'financial needs,' even if a party has become accustomed to 

65 Id. at 667-668. 
66 2 Shak A.C. at 22. 
67 Code, Ch. III, §6(a). 
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them over time/' 68 to reduce or reject many of the items in Fiusband1s proposed budget.69 In 

so doing, the Trial Court again adopted Wife's proposed findings nearly word-for-word, 

including finding that Wife's budget-which included luxury items such as $3,000 per 

month for vacations and $325 per month for car washes70-was reasonable. We hold that the 

Trial Court abused its discretion in n1bber-stamping all of Wife's financial needs and 

rejecting certain of Husband's financial needs, and remand for findings consistent with this 

opinion. 

a. Husband's Financial Needs. 

As noted above, Husband stopped working at Wife's suggestion and remained 

unemployed throughout the entil'e 18-year marriage. At the time he quit working, he was 

employed at Mystic Lake Casino doing maintenance.71 The record reflects that he does not 

have a high-school diploma, and although he received his GED, he had no other training or 

education after high school.72 Yet despite having little education or training and having been 

out of the workforce for almost 20 years, Husband sought and found a full-time job as a 

I 

welder with Natural Light shortly after separating from Wife.73 

68 Trial Court Order at 9, § XII(C) (citing Welch, 2 Shak. A.C. at 13). 
69 See Trial Court Order at 6-8, §§ XI 0-Y). 
70 Id. at 4, § X (citing Wife's Exhibit 1'1). 
71 Tr. at 169. 
72 Id. at 169-70. 
73 Id. at 163-64. 
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At the time of trial, Husband was earning $15 per hour with time and a half for 

overtime, and received health and dental insurance thrnugh his employer.7'1 He had the 

opportunity to contribute to a 401(k) plan through his employer but had not had the funds 

to do so.75 In fact, because he had been out of the workforce so long, Husband has no 

retirement savings.76 Husbartd testified that despite having significantly altered his lifestyle 

since separating from vVife, e.g. he was staying with his stepdaughter and various friends 

rather than paying rent or house payments and had not gambled or taken a vacation, he 

was not able to meet his monthly expenses on his income alone.77 Despite this 

uncontroverted testimony, the Trial Court found that "Husband is able to be self-supporting 

through appropdate employment based on his reasonable expenses."78 

We disagree. In particular, we find that the fol.lowtng findings by the Trial Court 

were clem:ly erroneous: 

7'1 Id. at 166, 168. 
75 Id. at 168. 
76 Id. at 196. 
77 Id. at 203. 
78 Trial Court Order at 10, § XII(D). 
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• The finding I-Iusband didn't need to purchase a (relatively modest) three­

bedroom home at a cost of approximately $1,800 per month, but that he could 

get by with a one-bedroom apartment that cost only $700.79 

• The reduction in Husband's budgeted costs for home maintenance, electricity, 

heating, and water/sewer/garbage pickup because it found that he should live 

in an apartment rather than a house.80 

• The finding that Husband's gross monthly income was $3,085.00 even though 

the1·e was uncontroverted testimony that he would not be able to continue 

working as many overtime hours as he had for the previous few months.81 

• The Trial Court's failure to account for Husband paying any taxes as part of 

his budget despite Husband having included pay stubs as exhibits that 

showed taxes being withheld.82 

On remand, the Court should consider a reasonable, middle-class bud.get for 

Husband- one under which he is not confined to purchase only the "bare necessities." In 

79 Id. at 6, § XIO). Husband t1:~stified that based on his experience looking for a place to live, 
"700 bucks doesn't really get you anything. You can live in the slums for 700 bucks." Tr. at 
197. 
so Id. at§§ XI (K, M, N, and 0), 
si Tr. at 167, 264. 
82 See Husband's Exhibit 2. 
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particular, we hold that Husband does_ not have to live in a cheap one-bedroom apartment 

to have reasonable financial needs. 

b. Wife's Financial Needs. 

As we observed, the Court spent far less time on Wife's financial needs, and did not 

scrutinize her budget for "luxury" items. While Wife documented significant expenses, she 

acknowledged that the vehicle expenses (then $10,501 per month) would decl'ease because 

she would sell the vehicles once they were awarded to her.83 Wife also noted that she had 

no retirement savings. But Wife continues to receive per-capita payments, and although 

there is no guarantee that the payments will continue forever, particularly at thefr current 

level, they will continue so long as the Community has a gaming enterprise.84 As noted, at 

the time of trial, those payments exceeded $64,000 per month. So although Wife also had no 

retirement funds, the reality is that unless the Community were to cease its gaming 

enterprise (a possibility we view as being highly unlikely), she will not need any source of 

revenue other than per-capita payments. 

On remand, the Trial Court should consider that Wife will have reduced vehicle 

payments from the budget she originally presented, and subject Wife's budget to the same 

scrutiny as Husband's when deciding what level of maintenance she can afford. We 

83 Trial Court Order at 4, § X. 
84 See Gaming Revenue Allocation Amendments to Business Proceeds Distribution 
Ordinance, Ordinance No. 10-27-93-002 at§ 14.5. 
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reiterate, however, that the court needn't ensure the parties' standards of living post-

dissolution will be equal. 

5. Any Othet· Appropriate Factors 

Most of the Trial Court's analysis under this prong fits better tmder the financial­

needs factor. The court noted that Wife was being awarded significant vehicle debt that 

Husband would not have to pay, and that Husband had the opportunity to make employer­

matched contributions to a 401(k) plan while Wife had no guarantee of ongoing per-capita 

payments. While those findings are technically true, it's of little use to Husband to have an 

employer 401(k) match when he can't afford to contribute to the plan in the first place. And 

as we have said, the possibility that Wife's per-capita payments will cease completely is 

remote.85 

Most notably in this section of its Order, the Trial Court found that "Wife has no real 

employment earning capacity, and nowhere near what Husband can earn at the present 

time with benefits."86 This is another instance where adopting Wife's proposed findings has 

caused clear error. Wife is receiving well over $700,000 per year in per-capita payments. 

Even assuming Flttsband could continue earning overtime on each check, he is only earning 

85 Further, if Wife's per-capita payments are significantly reduced or eliminated in the 
future, she can move the court to modify its maintenance award. See Code, Ch. IIt § 
6(b)(2)(i) (permitting modification of maintenance awards based on substantially increased 
or decreased earnings of a party). 
86 Trial Court Order at 101 § XII (E). 
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approximately $37,000 per year, or about 5'¾, of what Wife earns. The fact that Wife might 

theoretically have difficulty obtaining a high-paying job because she too has been out of the 

workforce and has little training should not have affected the Court's maintenance analysis. 

Rather, the realily that Wife's income is 20 times higher than Husband's, should have 

militated in favor of a higher and longer-term maintenance award. 

C. Division of Property 

To decide what the proper division of property in a marriage-dissolution action 

should be, the Code requires the Tl'ibal Court to consider the same £actors as for 

maintenance awards.87 Fortunately, the parties were able to agree on many items. But for 

those items that were not subject to the parHes' agreement, the Trial Court awarded them all 

to Wife, finding in each case that items purchased with Wife's per-capita payments were he1· 

separate property and could not be awarded to Husband.88 This, Husband argues, was an 

error of Jaw. Husband also contends on appeal that the Trial Court awarded Wife certain of 

Husband's separate property. We address those arguments in turn. 

1. Treatment of Items Purchased with Per-Capita Payments 

Throughout the Trial Court's property award, it continually references how it would 

be an invasion upon Wife's separate property to award Husband property that was 

87 Code, Ch. III,§ 5. 
88 See, e.g., Trial Court Order at 11-16 (awarding vehicles), 
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purchased with her pet-capita payments.89 Although the Trial Court is correct that per-

capita payments are the separate properly of the member under the Code and Welch, 90 that 

does not mean that anything purchased with per-capita payments during the marriage is 

separate property. Just as we held in Welch that maintenance could be awarded out of per-

capita payments, we hold that properly purchased with a membel"s per-capita payments is 

marital property and can be awarded to the non-member spouse. Otherwise there would be 

a "serious injustice'' in cases like this one where the patties' nearly sole source of income 

throughout the marriage was per-capita payments. 91 But while we disagl'ee with the Trial 

Court's decision to award personal property to Wife because it was purchased with per­

capita payments, we nonetheless find that the Trial Court did not abuse its discretion in its 

division of property. 

2. Hu.sband1 s Separate Property from the Shop 

Husband contends that there are multiple items in the garage and shop that were 

awarded to Wife that are actually his separate property, including various tools that he 

received as gifts.92 A review of the h·ial transcript :indicates, however, that Husband was 

awal'ded all the items he identified as being his separate property, with the possible 

89 Id. at 11-16. § XVI. 
90 2 Shak. A.C. at 19. 
91 Id. (discussing how there would be a serious injustice against non-member spouses if per­
capita payments could not be used to satisfy spousal maintenance). 
92 See Appellant's Br, at 36. 
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exception of some antique signs and license plates located outside the parties' garage,93 

which were not discussed in the Trial Court's Order. Given that Husband's testimony about 

these items was very vague and that he provided no exhibit listing the items he was 

requesting, we find that the Trial Court was within its discretion in not awarding these 

unidentified items to Husband. 

3, Remainder of the Property Division was Equitable 

We affirm the Trial Court's decision with respect to the remaining marital property. 

Although the Trial Court could have awarded additional vehicles to Husband even though 

they were plll'chased with per-capita payments, we find that the Trial Court had "an 

acceptable basis in fact and pdndple"94 in awarding both the vehicles and their associated 

debts to Wife. It would be inequitable to award Husband the vehicles while Wife has to pay 

for them after the marriage has been dissolved, Her amount of debt also made it fair to 

award the remaining items the Trial Court awarded to her. 

V. Conclusion 

The determination of spousal maintenance, including the amount and the duration, 

is reversed and remanded for a new decision in light of this opinion. We affirm the Trial 

Court's division of property. 

93 Compare Trial Court Order at 18, § XXII with Tr. at 317-325. 
94 Scheisel, 762 N.W.2d at 273 (internal quotation omitted). 
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SO ORDERED. 

Dated: June 8, 20:15 

Judge John Jacobson 

-~ 
T~rry Moson Moore 
Tribal Coutt Judge, Pro ~'cm 
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MEMORANDUM J)ECISION AND ORDER 

A. Summary. 

On August 15, 2014, the Trial Court granted summary judgment to Adam Dedeker ("Dedeker"), 

in the amount of $492,000, on his claim that Lol'i Stovem ("Stovern"), his mother, had unjustly cmiched 

herself from his ii.mds during a period that she was bis state-appointed conservatot·. On the same date, the 

Trial Court denied Dedeker's cluim for costs and disbursements, and dismissed Stovem's defenses and 

counterclaims based on fraud and duress. Thereafter, on Decembe1· 16, 2014, the Trial Court granted the 

Dedeker's motion for summary judgment on Stovern's counterclaims fot· costs that she asserted she had 

incurred while serving as hls conservator. 

Stovem timely appealed both Trial Court orders, and after briefing we heard oml argument on 

April 29, 2015. Today we affi1111 tl1e Trial Court in all respects. 

B. Jractual Background 

Stovern served as Dedeker's conservator from July, 2000 through September, 2004, pum1ant to 

orders from the coul'ts of the State of Minnesota, At some point thel'eafter, when the legal 1·estrictions of 

his conset·vatorship had been lifted, Dedekor came to believe that Stovern had misappropriated as much as 

1.5 million dollars of his money. The parties disagi·ee as to some of the events that then unfolded: in 
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affidavit testimony to the Trial Comt, Dedeker asserled that, when confronted with his suspicions, 

Stovem admitted malfeasance; but Stovem denies lhal, and contends merely that she did not have 

documents re.fleeting the legitimate uses, including cash payments made directly to Dedeker, to which the 

funds in question had been put. But the parties agree that, after Dedek er had raised the issue, lhe two of 

them met with an employee of the Shakopee Mdewakanton Sioux Community (''the Community"), and 

apparently with the employee's assistance, reached a settlement. Under the settlement agreement, 

Dedeker released his $1.5 mirnon claim, and Stovem agreed to pay him, over time, a total of $750,000, 

from regular deductions to be taken from the per capita payments made to her by the Community, A 

written agreement to that effect was drafted by an attomey who l1ad represented both parties in the past. 

The parties agree that each of them then signed that document, but apparently neither of them 

now has a signed copy. An unsigned agreement; which the parties agree is an accurate copy of the 

document tbey signed, was presented to the Trial Cotu1, as was a jointly-sit,,'llecl letter from them to the 

Community's Chairman and Business Council asking that $3,000 be deducted from each Community per 

capita payment to Stovern, cllld paid to Dedcker, until a total of $750,000 had been paid. 

For three years aftcrthe submission of that letter to the Community officials, the parties' 

ammgement held. Under it, a total of $258,000 was paid to Dcdckcr by Stovcrn. 

Late in 2013, however, at Stovern's direction, the deductions ceased; and in March, 2014, 

Dedeker filed a bJ'eaeh of contract action in the Trial ConrL 

Before the Trial Court, Stovern defended her action, and counterclaimed both for repayment of 

the $258,000 which Dedeker received, and for l'eimbursemcnt of costs and foes that she contends she 

experienced during the period that she was his conservator, arguing that that she signed the settlement 

agreement while she was under duress, and that l1er signature was procured by :fraud. Specifically, she 

asserted that befot'e she signed the settlement agreement Dedeker had told her that if she did not settle 

with him he would bring criminal charges against her. She asserted to the Trial Courl that she believed he 

could and would do so, and that she felt she had no choice but' to sign. His statement, she says, and her 

belief: was that Dedeker himself could prosecute her, when of course the legal reality was that the most 

Dedeker could have done is file a complaiut with appropriate authorities and hope that a prosecutor would 

initiate criminal proceedings. 

In August, 2014, the Trial Court granted Dedeker's motion for sununruy judgment on his 

contract claim. The Trial Court analyzed Stovern's submissions and arguments in the light most 

favorable to her, and concluded tbat even if she could prove that Dedeket indeed had asserted he could 

and would prosecute her (wl1foh Dedeker denies), and if she could prove that he knew that the asse1iion 

was false nnd that he intended Stovern to rely upon his false assertion, and assuming that sho actually did 

1·ely upon the false assertion "" even if all those things could be established at trial - the Trial Court llotcd 
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that Stovern could at any time have consulted with legal counsel concerning he1· options and her position, 

but instead signed the agreement, and then complied with it for several years. On that basis, the Trial 

Court concluded that het' asserted belief was objectively unreasonable and therefore that no legal claim, 

either of fraud or duress, could properly be based upon it .. 

Thereafter, in December, 2014, the Trial Court grantedDedeker's for summary judgment witl1 

respect to Stovern's counterclaim concerning expenses she claims she incurred on his behalf during the 

period from 2000 tluough 2004. The Tt'ial Court held that although the Community has not adopted an 

applicable statute of limitations, sti.11 at this Jate dale, more than ten years after the claim would have 

arisen, the doctrine of !aches must, as a matter of law, bar Stovern's claims, 

This appeal, from both Trial Court decisions, followed. 

C. Standa1·d ofReview. 

Under Rule 28 of the Rules of Civil Procedure of the Court of the Shakopee Mdewakanton Sioux 

Community, a grant of summruy judgment is appropriate only when there are no genuine fasues of 

material fact in dispute, and when the movant is entitled to judgment as a matte1· of Jaw. Summary 

judgment should he granted only if, taking the record as a whole, and viewing the evidence in the light 

most favorable to the non-moving party, the Trial Court could not rationally find for the non-moving 

party, Anderson v. Performance Construction, LLC,, 6 Shale. T.C. 42, at46 (Aug. 9, 2013). But~ in 

resisting a summary judgment motion a responding party must present enough evidence to show that 

there indeed is a genuine issue of matcdal fact. Merely offering a scintilla of evidence, or creating some 

''metaphysical doubt" wJU not suffice. Litil~ Six. Inc. v. Prescott t\Hd J:ohnson, 1 Shak. A.C. 157 (Feb. 1, 

2000). The evidence must be such that it would permit the court, at trial, to find in the non-moving 

party's favor. Id. 

On appeal, we review a graut of summary judgment as a question of law that is reviewed de novo. 

Id. 

D, Anal:xsis. 

In her appeal, Stovern makes four arguments. First, she argues tlrnt there is a gonuhle issue of 

material fact as to whether the parties enteJ'ed into a binding settlement agreement because thel'e is no 

copy of the actual signed agreement. Appel.lant's Br, 2. Second, she argues thnt there is im issue of fact 

as to whether it was reasonable for het· to believe that he1· son could criminally prosecute her if she did not 

enter into the settlement ag1·eement1 Id. at 3, and she asserts that she could prove the other necessary 

clements of a fraud or duress claim at trial. Id. at 4··-5, Third, she maintains that the Trinl Court lookc<l to 

inadmissible evidence, specillcnlly affidavits of a Conummity social worker a11d of the attorney who 
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drafted the seUJement agreement, Id. at 5-6, despite the fact that the Trial Court expressly said that it was 

declining to consider those documents. And finally, she argues that he1· counterclaim for expenses 

incurred during the time she was Dedeker's conservator cannot be barred by laches because she was 

ignoranl ofthe law, and because 1he Shakopee Community has not adopted an applicable stailtte of 

limitations. ML at 7-8. 

Having carefully considered these arguments we find none of them persuasive. 

We think there is no dispute with respect to the existence and the essential terms of the parties 

settlement agreement. During oral argument on Dcdekcr's summary judgrnenl motion, these colloquies 

occurred: 

THE COURT: Well, let me ask you ibis, because it's not clear to me either from the 

brief or from Ms. Stovern's affidavit. Does Ms. Stovern dispute that she signed a settlement 

agreement? 

MR. McGEE: No. 

June 11, 2014 Transcript, AT 14: 17-21 

THE COURT: Does Ms. Stovern dispute that she signed that letter to the business 

counsel [sic]? 

MR. McGEE: She does not. 

THE COURT: And does she dispute its accurncy in describing the settlement? 

MR. McGEE: Not to the essential terms ... 

Id,. at 17:3-9. 

The parties agree that Dedeker believed he was owed a sum of money; I hey agree that they 

reached a se1tJcment ofd1at claim; and they agree that the "essential terms" of that settlement obliged 

Stovcrn to pay him three thousand dollars from each of her per capita payments from the Community. 

Hence, there was the consideration that is necessary for the formation of a contract: Dedeker's agreement 

that he would forbear frolll seeking additional payments from Stovem. And in light of the parties' letter 

to the CommunHy officials, the tet·ms of their contract- that is, the amount that must be paid, the term 

within which it wilJ be paid, ru1d the source from which it is to be paid - can be ascertained. Under these 

circumstances, and given the foct that Stovem did perform under those "essential terms" for a period of 

years, the Trial Court properly concluded that there is no issue of material fact with respect to the 

fotmation and terms of the parties settlement agreement, and therefore that summary judgment clearly 

was appropriate as to that question. 

Nor do we think tl1ings stand differently with respect to Stovem's claim that she entered into the 

agreement because Dedeker allegedly committed a fraud upon her, or because she was under undue 
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duress when she signed the agreement. A misrepresentation of law docs not create a cause of action fo1· 

fraud unless the person making the misrepresentation is either (1) learned in the field, such as a lawyer 01· 

un insumnce claims adjuster, or (2) has a fiduciary duty or similar rclationshjp of trust and confidence to 

the defrauded person. Northernairo Prpds., Inc, v. Crow Wing Cnty .• 244 N.W.2d 279,280 (Minn. 1976); 

Stark v. Equitable Life Assur. Soc. of U.S., 285 N.W. 466, 469 (Minn. 1939). The simple justification fol' 

this rule is 1hat "[ o ]rdinary vigilance will disclose the truth or falsehood of representations as to matters of 

law." State v. Edwards_, 227 N.W. 495,495 (Minn. 1929). 

A statement of mixed fact and law can create a basis for a claim of fraud if it "' amounts to an 

implied assertion that Ji.lets exist that justify the conclusion of law whfoh is expressed' and the other party 

would ordinarily have no lmowlcdge of the facts." Hoyt Props., Inc. v. Prod. Res. Grp .. L.L.C., 736 

N.W.2d 313,318 (Minn. 2007) (quoting Miller v. Osterlund, 191 N.W. 919,919 (Minn. 1923)). 

Examples of predominantly factual statements include the statement that one mo1tgage has priority ovel' 

another, tliat a particu lat· corporation has a right to do business i11 a state, Id. ( citing Restatement (Second) 

of Torts§ 545 (1977)) or that a piece of land is free from u statutory reservation of minerals. Pieh v. 

FUtton, 211 N.W. 964,965 (Minn. 1927). ln these scenarios, the fraudulent .misrepresentation is not the 

existence of a particular law, but the fo.ct that one bas compUed with the requirements imposed by that 

law. The distinction is that "pure representations of law can be investigated by either party simply by 

reference lo legal authority that is a matte!' of public record rather than requiring knowledge of 

information in the other party's possession." Lyon Fili. Servs., lnc, v.111. .Paper & Copier Co., 732 F.3d 

755, 760 (7th Cir. 2013) (applying Minnesota law). 

But if Dedeke1· in fact did threaten to "prosecute" Stovem, his statement would be a simple 

misrepresentation of law - since one individual cannot ct'iminally prosecute another - and therefot·e not 

actionable as :fraud. Jf the threat was meant to refer to a civil lawsuit, the question of whether Dedeker 

had a valid cause of action would have been more of a mixed question of fact and Jaw; but Dedeker 

possessed no facts relevant to such a lawsuit thut were not also possessed by Stovern, and both parties had 

equal access t:o the applicable law and to lawyers. See Miller, 191 N. W. at 919 ("A misrepresentntion of a 

matter of law ... is not a representation on which the party to whom it has been made has a right to rely, 

for the law is presumed to be equal.ly within the knowledge of both parties."); see also Edwa1'ds, 227 

N.W. at 495. Clearly, settlements would have little moaning if they were voidable simply on the basis 

Uiat one of the parties later came to question the merits of a threatened lawsuit. 

Hence, even if Stover11 were able to convince the Ttfal Cou1't that Dedekcr in fact did th1·eate11 to 

"prosecute" hel', that would not be a material fact permitting the Comito find in Stovern's favor. Mr. 

Dedeker is Jlot learned in the law, 11or was he Ms. Stovern's fiduciary. To the contrary, Mr. Dedeket· was 

allegedly threatening to prosecute or sue Ms. Stovem, and she claims that during the conservatorship he 
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attempted lo hide money from his ex-wife. "Receiving repeated assurances from one who is believed to 

be dishonest provides no comfort and serves as an inadequate basis for any justifiable reliance." Burns..Y,. 

Valene, 214 N.W.2d 686, 690 (Minn. 1974). Therefore, the circumstances that surrounded the alleged 

threats further weaken Stovcm's argument for reasonable t'eliance. 

As with fraud, so with duress. In order to successfully challenge a contract on the basis that it 

was formecl under impermissible duress, a party must prove that he or she involuntarily executed the 

agreement because circumstances permitted no other altemative, and that those circumstances were the 

result of coercive acts by the other party. Oskey Gasoline & Oil Co., Inc. v. Continental Oil Co., 534 

F .2d 1281 ( 8th Cir. 197 6). Herc, if indeed Dedcker threatened criminal prosecution, Stovern had several 

obvious choices available to her other than simply negotiating and sig11ing the agreement. Most 

obviously, she could have consulted with legal counsel, as she had with respect to other matters in the 

past. We agree with the Trial Court that "[i]f all a contracting pat'ly had to do to assert a triable defense of 

duress was claim a misunderstanding of the law, or of existing facts, to relieve themselves of their duties, 

duress would be an issue in nearly eve1y breach-of-contract case". Dedeker v. Stovern. SMSC Court Pile 

No. 785•14 (Aug. 15, 2014, at 10). 

Nor is there any basis in the record for crediting Stovem's claim that the Trial Court 

impormissibly or inappropriately relied upon the affidavit of the Community employee whom the parties 

consulted before entering their agreement, and/or the af11davit of the attorney who drafted the agreement. 

The Trial Court expressly stated that it gave no weight to either affidavit., Id. al 3 - 4, n. 3 and n. 8, and 

nothing in the record suggests otherwise. 

Finally, we affirm the Trial Court's conclusion that Stovern's claims for monies she allegedly 

paid for Dedeker' s benefit during the years from 2000 to 2004 are time-batred. In doing so, we do not 

reach the question of whether l)ublic Law 280, 28 U.S.C. § 1360(a) (2012), imposes Minnesota's statute 

of limitations upon civil contracts between members of the Community. Instead, although we note 

Minnesota's statute h1 our discussion below, we conclude that whether or not any statute of limitations 

applies, under the facl~ here the equitable doctrine of !aches clearly bars Stovem's claim. 

Stovern m·gues that there are factual issues that should have precluded summary judgment on the 

laches defense, and it is true that !aches can involve a fact-intensive inquiry. But such inquiry often is 

1·esolved on summary judgment when there are no genuine issues of material fact regarding the elements 

of the !aches defense. 1 OB Charles Alan Wright ct al., Federal Practice and Procedure § 2734 (3d ed.); 

see also Baskin v. Tennes~e Val. Anth., 382 R Supp. 641, 646 (M.D. Tenn. 1974) (citing decisions of 

severaljurisdictions), qff'd., 519 F.2d 1402 (6th Cir. 1975). 

The piuty asse1ting the !aches defense has the burden of establishing three things: (1) an 

u11justifiable delay in bringing a claim, (2) a lack of excuse for 1:he delay, and (3) resulting evidentiary or 
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economic pr~judice to the party against whom the claim has been made. Apotex, lllc, v. UCB. Inc., 970 

F. Supp. 2d 1297, 1336 (SJ). Fla. 2013), 0qfj"d, 763 F.3d 1354 (Fed. Cir. 2014); see also Martin v. 

Dicklich, 823 N.W.2d 336, 341 (Mlnn. 2012). 

But a finding of laches is Ii.tndamentalJy based on the equities of a particular case. A trial court 

can make its ultimate determination notwithstanding the establishment of these three elements. Rather, 

the elements of lachcs lay the groundwork for the trial court's ultimate finding based on the equities. 

A.C. Aukerman Co. v. R.L. Chaidcs Const. Co., 960 F.2d 1020, 1036 (Fed. Cir. 1992) ("Lachesis not 

established by undue delay and prt::iudicc. Those factors merely lay the foundation for the trial court's 

exercise of discretion."). Because the doctdne of !aches is so heavily founded on equities, a trial court is 

entitled to a great deal of discretion upon appelJate review. Roederer v. J. Garcia Carrion, S.A., 569 F.3d 

855, 858 (8th Cir. 2009) ("Tho determination of whether !aches applies in the present case was a matter 

within the sound discretion of the district court, and we, accordingly, review the district court's 

application of laches for au abuse of discretion." (quoting Brown-Mitchell v. J<,11c11s.as ~ity Power & Light 

Co., 267 F.3d 825, 827 (8th Cir.2001)); Jackel v. BrowQt. 668 N.W.2d 685, 690 (Minn. Ct. App. 2003) 

("[E]ven at summary judgment, the decision whether to apply !aches lies within U1e district court's 

discretion and will be reversed only for an abuse of that discretion."). 

Although delay is a component of !aches, "i.t is generally agreed that delay alone does not 

consiit11te laches." 27 A Am, Jnr. 2d Equity§ 129 (2015); see also Leimer v, State Mut. Life Assur. Co. 

ofWorcester....M@lb 108 F.2d 302,305 (8th Cir. 1940) ("it has been repeatedly held that mere lapse of 

time does not constitute !aches."). But the United States Comt of Appeals for the Eighth Circuit has held 

that an analogous statute oflimitations may indicate that commencement of an action was unreasonably 

delayed. Reynolds v. Heartland Tl'ansp., 849 F.2d 1074, 1075~76 (8tl1 Cir. 1988) ("[TJhe period 

prescribed in an analogous statute of limitation is a mugh rnle of thumb in considering the question of 

laches, and constitutes a pertinent factor in evaluating the equities."); Minn. Mining ~_Mfg. Co. v. 

Beautone Specialties, Co., 82 F. Supp. 2d 997, 1004 (D. Minn. 2000) (finding that delay almost twice as 

long as the most applicable state statute of limitations was "strnng evidence" that delay was 

unreasonable). Thus, in our view it is not inappropriate to note !hat Ms, Stovem's ten-year delay far 

exceeds the six-year statute of limitations that would have been imposed upon her had she brought her 

case in the courts of the State of Minnesota. Minn. Stat. § 541.05, subdiv. 1. 

But although delay is a critical oleme11t of a !aches defense, the reasonableness of the delay is a 

more important component of the analysis. Ms. Stovem cmi-ectly points out that some of the cases cited 

by the Trial Court did not specifically involve !aches. See L;\lbino y. Baca. 697 F.3cl 1023, 1026 (9th Cir. 

2012) (exhaustion of administmtive t'emedies); Pishei· v. Jolu.l.@.!L.174 F.3d 710, 711 (5th Cir. 1999) 

(statute of limitations); Iowa Beta ChaJ2ter of Phi Delta The.m Fraterni!)! v. State, 763 N.W.2d 250, 264 
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(Iowa 2009) (failure to comply with stanllory obligations). However. there i.s ample case law that 

establishes precisely the same principle in the context of laches. See, e.g., Jeffries v. Chicago Transit 

Anth., 770 F.2d 676, 680 (7th Cir. 1985): Baskin v. Tennessee VaL Auth., 382 F. Supp. 641, 646 (M.D. 

Teun. 1974) ("Plaintiffs' assertion that they were ignorant of their legal right to maintain an action in 

comt for rei.11Statemeut is an insufficient defense ro the charge otlaches. "), ajfd, 519 F.2d 1402 (6th Cir, 

1975); Marrero Morales v. Bull Steamship Co" 279 F.2d 299 .. 301 (!st Cir, 1960) ("(M]any cases have 

held that ignorance of one's legal rights does not excuse a failme to i.nstitute snit.''.). 

In addition to the length of delay, and the reasonableness or ulll'easonablen.ess of delay, the 

question of prejudice is of enonnous importance in considering whether hches bars a claim. Factors that 

tend to establish eviclentinry prejudice include the dcnth ofwituesses. the focli11g of witness' memories, 

and the destruction or loss of documents. See, e.g., Serdarevic v. Advm1cecl Med. Optics. Inc., 532 F .3d 

1352, 1360(Fed. Cir. 2008); Apotex. Inc. v. UCB, Inc., 970F. Snpp. 2d 1297, 1336(8.D. Fla. 2013), 

qff'cl, 763 F.3cl 1354(Fed, Cir. 2014):Adairv. Hustace, 640P.2cl 294,300 (Hnw. 1982). Here, the 

parties do not dispute that there now is apparently no clocmnentntion availnble regal'ding the accotmtiug of 

conservatorship fees, so the principal evidence available iswit!less testimony, and one witness is 

deceased. Dcdeker v. Stovem, SMSC Court File No. 785-14 (Dec. 16,2014, at 12)(citing Decleker's 

Mem. in Supp. of Second l.V[ot. for Stumn. J. at 6). And the memory of all other witnesses is over ten 

yems old. 

Taking all these factors together, we hold that: Stovem's delay in asserting her claims -when. she 

dearly could have done so at least in the context of the negotiations that led to the parties' settlement 

agreement, or at any time earlier ~as amntter of law bars the assertion of the claims now, and the Tlial 

Court properly awarded summmyjudgment to Dedeker outhat question. 

For all the foregoing reasons, thejudgment of the Trial Cotut is, in its entirety. AFFIRlvfED. 

Dated: July 27, 2015 > 

Judge Henry M. Buffalo, Jr. 

Judge Tcny !vfasou Moore 
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I. Introduction 

This case concerns the estate of Clarence Enyai-t, who died on August 12, 2013. 

Nine years before his passing, Mr. Enyart relinquished his reservation land assignment 

to his daughter, Tracy Lanham (f/k/a Tracy Green). But in his 2011 will, he attempted to 

transfer that same land assignment to his son, Paul Enyart. The Ttial Court mled that 

the land assignment was not part of Clarence Enyart' s estate, and that Paul Enyart was 

not enhtled to either the land assigmnent or any compensation therefor upon his 

father's death. Paul Enyart appealed, and we affirm. 

II. lssttes on Appeal 

Paul Enya1't' s appeal raises three issues: 

1. Did Clarence Enyart effectively transfer his land assignment to Tracy Lanham 

in 2004? 

We affirm the Trial Court's decision that he did. 
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2. Should the Trial Comt have permitted Paul Enyart to conduct more discovery 

on whether Clarence Enyart relinquished his land assignment subject to any 

conditions? 

We find that the Trial Court did not abuse its discretion by denying 

further time to conduct discovery on this issue. 

3. Should the Tl'ial Court have applied the rule against ademption by extinction 

to the land assignment? 

We hold that the mle did not apply to the facts presented in this case. 

III. Factual Background 

Sometime before the fall of 2004, Clarence Enyart obtained a Residential Land 

Lease to the residence located at 3157 Sweetgrass Circle in Prim Lake on the 

Comnmnity's Reservation.1 In 2004, he relinquished his land assignment to his 

daughter, Tracy Lanham, under the Commtmily' s Consolidated Land Management 

Ordinance.2 The Community General Council confirmed the re-assignment of the land 

to Tracy Lanham in General Council Resolution No. 9-14-04-013.3 The record does not 

reflect that anyone challenged this i:e-assigmnent. 

1 Brief of Estate of Tracy Lanham ("Lanham Brief") at 1. 
2 Transcript of December 18, 2014 Hearing ("Dec. 18, 2014 Tr.") at 9-10. 
3 Id. 
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Tracy Lanham moved into the residence in the fall of 2004 with her two children, 

Brock and Brandon Lanham:1 She continued to reside there until her death in 

September 2014.5 

As noted above, Clarence Enyart died on August 12, 2013. In Section 2.1 of his 

Last Will and Testament, Mr. Enyart declared: 

Subject to Shakopee Mdewakanton Sioux Community law, I prefe1· that 
my land assignment and home site be offered to my son, Paul L. Enyart, 
should he survive me. Should Paul L. Enyart decline to take possession of 
my land assignment and home site, I prefer that m,y land assignment and 
home site be "re-couped" by the Shakopee Mdewakanton Sioux 
Community and that the proceeds of such recoupment be distributed in 
accordance with Article Three of this will.6 

In his affidavit to the Trial Court, Paul Enyart stated his belief that his father had 

conditionally given his land assignment to Tracy Lanham, subject to a signed 

agreement that she build Clarence Enyart an apartment within the residence.7 Under 

this alleged agreement, if Ms. Lanham failed to maintain an apartment for Clarence 

Enyart within the Sweetgrass Circle residence, the land assignment would revert back 

to Clarence Enyart,8 Paul Enyart did not produce a copy of any such agreement. 

h1 October 2013, Judge Jacobson directed that Clarence's estate be administered. 

During a probate heating on November 18, 2014, Paul Enyart brought Section 2.1 of the 

4 Lanham Brief at 2. 
5 Id. 
6 Last Will and Testament of Clarence W. Enyart, Tr. Ct. Dkt. 6 (the "Will") at§ 2.1. 
7 Affidavit of Paul Enyart, Tr. Ct, Dkt. 18, at ~[ 4, 
8 Id. 
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Will to the Trial Comt' s attention, and raised the issue of whether the land assignment 

should be included in Clarence Enyarl:'s estate.9 At that same hearing, counsel for the 

personal representatives of the estate noted that "we contacted the tribal attorney 

multiple times and have been told multiple times over the couple years that the fond 

assignment was Tracy Lanham's, it was not Clarence Enyart's."10 Nonetheless, Paul 

Enyart requested that the colli't order formal discovery on whether the land assignment 

was subject to a condition that Tracy Lanham maintain an apartment in the home for 

Clarence Enyart.11 

Rather than order formal discovery, Judge Jacobson suggested that Paul Enyart 

write a letter to the Community's legal counsel to request further information about the 

land assignment,12 which he did shortly after the hearing.13 In response, counsel for the 

Community informed the Clerk of Court that the Community would provide the court 

with a copy of Community General Council Resolution 09-14-04-13, titled" Approving 

Relinquishment of Land Assignment from Clarence Enyart to Tracy Green."H 

At the final pmbate hearing of December 18, 2014, the Commtmity's counsel 

showed a copy of Resolution 09-14-04-13 to the Trial Court and the parties and counsel 

'> Transcript of November 18, 2014 Hearing ("Nov. 18, 2014 Tr.") at 8. 
10 Id. at 7. 
11 Id. at 13. 
i2rd. 
13 See Dec. 10, 2014 Letter from L. Leventhal to W. Hardacker, Tr. Ct. Dkt. 17. 
14 See Dec. 16, 201,1 Letter from Attori-1ey Hardacker to SMSC Clerk of Court, Tr. Ct. Dkt. 
20 (the "Hardacker Letter"). 
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present at the hearing, including counsel for the personal representatives of the estate, 

for Ms. Lanham's children, and for Paul Enyart.15 According to the Trial Court, the 

resolution stated that Clarence Enyart had relinquished his land assignment to his 

daughter, Tracy Lanham1 and that the General Council had approved the 

relinquishment.16 The Resolution contained no contingency tmder whid1 the 

assignment would revert to Clarence Enyart. 17 After viewing Resolution 09-14-04-13, 

Judge Jacobson held that Clarence Enyart relinquished the Sweetgrass Cirde land 

assignment in 2004, so that it was not part of his estate at the l:ime he executed his will 

or at his death in August 2013.18 

IV. Legal Analysis 

A. The Status of the Land Assignment 

In 2002, the Shakopee Mdewakanton Sioux Commtmity General Council enacted 

the Consolidated Land Management Ordinance (the "Ordinance") by General Council 

Resolution No. 06-28-02-005, and the Secretary of the Interior appl'Oved it on July 29, 

15 Dec. 18, 2014 Tr. at 9. 
t6 Id. 
17 Id. at 9-10. 
18 Id. at 16. 
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2002. The Ordinance established a comprehensive system for the allocation and transfer 

of land assignments.19 

Under the definition of "assignment" in the Ordinance, a l'ecipient of a land 

assignment does not receive any additional interest in the land, apart from eligibility to 

"receive a residential lease,"20 Indeed, Section 3.8 of the Ordinance confirms that 

"[r]eceipt of a land assignment does not convey any property interests in the assigned 

parcel 0£ land. An assignment cannot be encumbered, conveyed, nor sublet by any 

person."21 A residential land lease does not confer ownership rights to a parcel of land. 

Rather, a residential land lease is a "legal instrument ... that grants a leasehold interest 

for residential purposes after assignment of a residential parcel."22 The recipient of a 

residential land lease therefol'e only possesses a possessory interest in the assigned 

properly.23 

The General Council holds the sole authority to assign land or to convey any 

interest in a land assignment.21 The Business Council may assign land parcels to eligible 

persons under Chapters 3 and 4 of the Ordinance. But when a holder of a land 

19 The status of a land assignment is a legal question, which we review de novo. See, e.g. 
Stopp v. Little Six, 1 Shak. A.C. 23 Qan. 29, 1996); Welch v. SMS(D)C, 1 Shak. A.C. 35 (Oct. 
14, 1996) (plurality opinion). 
20 Ordillance at§ 1.3(A). 
21 Ordinance at § 3.8. 
22 Id. at §l(H). 
,.a See Black's Law Dictionary 909 (8th ed. 2004) (defining "leasehold" as a "tenant's 
possessoiy estate in land or premises .... "), 
2•1 See Ordinance at § 2.1. 
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assignment dies, any proposed transfer of the Hse internst is subject to Community 

govemment approval, as provided in the Ordinance and governed by Community 

law.25 

Paul Enyart argues that at the time of the execution of Clarence Enyart' swill, 

/ 

Clarence was in possession of all interests associated with the assignment.26 But the only 

property interest ever available to Clarence Enyart was a residential leasehold. Even if 

he had held a possessory interest in the land assignment at the time of his death, aU 

proposed transfers of interest are subject to Community govemment approval.27 

Throughout the proceedings before Judge Jacobson, Paul Enyart did not present any 

evidence that the Community approved any land assignment transfer from Clarence to 

Paul. Rather, the record reflects that Clarence Enyart did not have a leasehold interest in 

the land assignment at the time of his death because he had relinquished it to his 

daughter several years earlier. And nothlng in the record reflects that Clarence Enyart 

had attempted to enforce the alleged conditions on the transfer of the assignment to 

Tracy Lanham before his death. 

Chapter 4 o.f the Ordinance provides procedures for an inter vivas relinquishment 

of a land assignment by an enrolled tribal member. Under Section 4.14 0£ the 

2s Id. at§ 4.12.1 
26 Brief of Paul Enyart ("Enyart Brief") at 12-13. 
v Indeed, Mr. Enyart recognized as much in his will when he bequeathed his land 
assignment to Paul Enyart "[s]ubject to Shakopee Mdewakanton Sioux law." Will at§ 
2.1. 
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Ordinance, a member can vohmtarily rel:inquish his or her land assignment for 

reassignment and lease to another enrolled member OJ' to the Community. But dolng so 

terminates the prior holder's residential land lease.28 

In the present case, Clarence Enyart requested that his land assignment be 

transferred to his daughter Tracy Lanham.29 The Commtmity approved this land­

assignment transfer in General Council Resolution No. 9-14-04-013.30 Nothing in that 

document nor in any other evidence presented to the court indicated that the 

Comnrnnity's approval of the land assignment transfer was subject to any conditions. 

In fact, the land assignment was transfr1rred to Tracy Lanham and she lived there 

for nearly ten years before Clarence Enyal't's death. We agree that Clarence Enyart did 

not have any property interests in the land assignment to give to Paul at the time of his 

death, and affirm the Trial Court's ruling to that effect. 

B. Additional Discovery 

Paul Enyart doesn1t really contend that-based on the evidence before it-the 

Trial Court was wrong to exclude the land assignment from Clarence Enyart's estate. 

Instead, his real argument is that the Tdbal Court should have been permitted him to 

further explore his contention that his father conditioned relinquishment of the land 

28 Id. at§ 4.10. 
29 Dec. 18, 2014 Tr. at 9-10. 
30 Id. at 10. 
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assignment to Ttacy Lanham on her providing an apartment on the propetty for him, 

and that Ms. Lanham violated that condition. 

Whether to allow discovery and to what extent is within the Trial Court's 

discretion. And because a trial court has broad discretion to manage discovery of a 

pending proceeding, we review the issue of whether the Trial Court should have 

pem1itted additional discovery for abuse of discretion.31 

In General Council Resolution 05-12-98-002, the Community authorized the 

Tribal Court to use the Unfform Probate Code ("UPC") to decide probate matters. 

Under section 1-304 of the UPC, the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure govern probate 

proceedings, and under Federal Rule 26(b), "[p]arties may obtain discovery regarding 

any nonprivileged matter that is relevant to any party's claim or defonse." Even so, 

discovery is subject to Rule 26(b)(2)(C), which permits a trial court to limit the 

"frequency or extent of discovery" on motion or on its own, if: 

(i) the discovery sought is unreasonably cumulative or duplicative, 
or can be obtained from some other somce U1at is more 
convenient, less burdensome, or less expensive; 

(ii) the parly seeking discovery has had ample opportunity to 

obtain the information by discovery in the action; or 

31 See Wiggin v. Apple Valley Med. Clinic, Ltd., 459 N.W.2d 918,919 (Mum. 1990) (citing 
Erickson v. MacArthur, 414 N.W.2d 406,407 (Minn. 1987) ("[W]e will not distmb a trial 
court's decision regarding discovery absent a clear abuse of discretion")); In re 
Hardie11lank Fiber Cement S-iding Lit-ig., No. 12~MD-2539, 2014 WL 5654318, at *1 (D. Milm, 
Jan. 28, 2014) (11 A decision regarding the scope of discove1y is a procedural matter, 
reviewed for abuse of discretion."). 
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(iii) the burden 01: expense of the proposed discovery outweighs its 

likely benefit, considering the needs of the case, the amount in 

controversy, the parties' resources, the importance of the issues 

at stake in the action, and the importance of the discovery in 
resolving the issues. 

TI1e Trial Court didn't explicitly weigh those factors in its decision to deny 

.further discovery in this case, but we nonetheless find that the court did not abuse its 

discretion by denying further discove1y. As we have discussed, the Trial Court 

encouraged Paul Enyart to engage in informal discovery to obtain records of the 

Commtmity regarding the land assignment because the Coromtmity was not party to 

the probate proceedh1gs and enjoys immunity from suit.32 He granted additional time 

to probate the estate to permit this informal discove1y, even though the estate's 

personal representative was a Commtmity employee who had served as Clarence 

Enyart's conservator of estate before Mr. Enyart's death and had represented to the 

Comt that all the records he had seen regarding the land assignment-having asked for 

the records "multiple times over the years" -showed that Mr. Enyart unconditionally 

relinquished his land assignment to Tracy Lanham ln 2004. 

Further, after the Commrnuty presented the General Council resolution to the 

parties and the Trial Court confirming the unconditional assignment from Clarence 

Enyart to Tracy Lanham, what Paul Enyart actually asked the Trial Court to do was 

32 See supta at 4. 
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allow more time so he could petition the Commtmity's Business Council for relief 

regarding the land assignment: 

Mr, Leventhal: [I]t is specifically provided in the land code that 
determinations by General Council -- excuse me, by the Business Council 
can be made after death. I would make reference to 4.12.4, posthumous 
transfer of land assignment. And so that would be in the ability of the 
General Council -- of the Business Cotmcil.33 

Judge Jacobson agreed that any relief regarding the land assignment would have to 

come from the Commtmity' s other branches of govemment: 

Judge Jacobson: I take your point, Mr. Leventhal, with respect to the 

powers of the Business Cotmcil and ultimately the General Council with 

respect to land assignments and, and the -- the imposing or requiring of 

compliance with laws and equitable considerations. But this Court doesn't 
have that role. 

In the, under the Consolidated Land Ordinance, when we're looking at the 

section, I cited Section 4 4.10 speaks only of the Business Council and l:he 

General Cotmcil. And looking again at the sections that are relevant to this 

relinquishment, this particular relinquishment, it seems to me or it seems 

clear to me that the relinquishment, when it is approved by the General 

Council, it is effective immediately. And Section 4.14.1 notes in its final 

sentence the decisions of. the General Council on any request undel' this 

paragraph is final. 

So it seems to me that the estate is correct, the land assignment is not 

properly part of the estate and therefore is not, would not properly be 

lncluded in the inventory. If your client believes, as he clearly does, that 

there should be effect given to Mr. Clarence Enyares l'equest in Article 2 

Section 2.1 of his will, it seems to me that that case should be made to the 
Business Council,34 

3333 Dec. 18, 2014 Tr. at 12. 
34 Id. at 15-16 ( emphasis added). 
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Particularly in light of Paul Enyarl:'s admission that the Business Council-and 

not the Court-would have to act on the land assignment, it was reasonable for the Trial 

Court to deny further discovery so that the estate could be probated. Delaying the 

process so that Paul Enyart could seek political relief would have complicated the 

probate process for both Clarence Enyart and Tracy Lanham, Based on the facts 

presented to him, Judge Jacobson reasonably determined that any benefit derived from 

further discovery was outweighed by the burden of continuing discove1y, and we find 

that he did not abuse his discretion. 

C. Rule Against Ademption by Extinction 

Enyart additionally argues that even if the land assignment itself cannot be 

txansfon:ed to him, he is entitled to any proceeds from a past or future sale of the 

property based on the non-ademption doctrine of the Uniform Probate Code.35 Whether 

the doctrine applies is a question 0£ law, which we review de novo.36 

In support of this argument, Enyart cites Estate of Tracy L. Stade-Rapasky.37 In that 

case, the decedent Community member had devised her land assignment to her 

granddaughter, who was a minor at the time of the member's death. The Court held 

35 Enyart Brief at 13. 
3636 See, e.g. Stopp v. Little Six, 1 Shak. A..C. 23 (Jan. 29, 1996)i Welch v. SMS(D)C, 1 Shak. 
A.C. 35 (Oct. 14, 1996) (plurality opinion). 
37 6 Shak T.C. 111 Qune 28, 2012). 
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that, under the Ordinance, only adult Community members could hold land 

assignments,38 so the land assignment was not part of the estate.39 

Under the doctrine of "adempt.ion by extinction," when an individual devises 

property in his will, and the individual no longer owns that property at the time of his 

death, the devised property is considered adeemed and the gift is considered void.40 

The Court in Estate of Tracy L. Stade-Rapasky cited Section 2-606 of the UPC as an 

equitable doctrine to overcome the harsh effects of ademption. Under the UPC, a 

pecuniary award to a devisee may be permitted "to the extent it is established that 

ademption would be inconsistent with the testator's manifested plan of distribution.""1 

The Stade-R.apasky Court thus held that, because the decedent did not intend the 

property to be adeemed, the minor granddaughter was entitled to receive net proceeds 

from the sale of the land assignment and the home.42 

The present case is, however, distinguishable from Estate of Stade--Rapasky. In the 

Stade-Rapas!cy case, the problem with the testamentary land-assignment gift was that as 

a matter of tribal law, it could not pass to a m.inor. Here, the problem is that, at the time 

Mr, Enyart purported to devise the land assignment to his son Paul, he had already 

relinquished it without qualification to his daughte1· Tracy Lanham seven years earlier. 

38 Jd. at 116. 
39 Id. at 118. 
40 Id. at 116 (citing James A. Casner & Jeffrey N. Pennell, Estate Planning, Vol. 1, 3062 § 
3.2.5.2 (7th ed. 2006)). 
41 UPC§ 2-606(a)(6). 
42 Estate of Stade-Rapasky, 6 T.C. at 118. 
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Once the General Council approved the relinquishment 0£ his land assignment to Tracy 

Lanham in 2004, Clarence Enyart sirnply did not have the land assignment to bequeath 

or otherwise to anyone in his 2011 Will, and so the land assignment does not £it the 

doctrine of ademption or the UPC rule avoiding it. Were it otherwise, testators could 

create rights in property they didn't own simply by including devises to it in their wills. 

V. Conclusion and Order 

For all these reasons, we affirm the Trial Court's conclusion that Clarence Enyart 

legally transferred his land assignment to Tracy Lanham in 2004, find that Judge 

Jacobson's decision to deny further discovery on that issue was not an abuse of 

discretion, and affirm that ademption by extinction did not apply in this case. We 

AFFIRM the Trial Court's order settling the estate of Clarence Enyart. 

SO ORDERED. 

Dated: July 27, 2015 
Judge Henry M. Buffalo, Jr. 
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I. Introduction 

This is the second appeal in 1:he marriage-dissolution action between Joseph 

Sfepfien-tieske ("Husband") and Cyndy Stade, f/n/a Cyndy Stade-Lieske ("Wife"). The 

sole issue presented to this Court is whether the trial court abused its discretion by 

awarding Husband spousal mai.nl:enance in the amount of $1,500 per month for a 

period of 18 months. We hold that it did, and we reverse and remand to the court with 

specific instructions as outlined in this opinion. 
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II. Background 

Wife is a member of the Community; Husband is not.1 They married on June 25, 

1996, and lived within the Community Reservation (the "Reservation") for the duration 

of their 18-year marriage.2 They had no children together/ but Wife had four children 

from a previous maaiage, all of whom lived with the parties for some time during the 

marriage.4 

At the outset of the marriage, Husband held a couple of different jobs.5 But early 

on, at Wife's request, Husband agreed to stop working, and he did not work for the 

balance of the marriage.6 WHe owns and operates a few in-home businesses? But the 

income derived from those businesses has been negligible.8 Consequently, U1e parties 

relied almost exclusively on Wife's per-capita payments for financial support during 

their mardage.9 

In addition to living expenses, the parties purchased a wide variety of vehicles, 

gambled, and travelled.w Wife also paid spousal maintenance to her previous husband 

1 Stade-Lieske v. Lieske, No. 783-14, Transcript of Trial at 38, 148 ("Tr."). 
2 ld. at 13, 16, 26-27. The parties continue to live within the Reservation. Id. at 15-16. 
3 Id. at 41. 
4 Id. at 41, 1.12, 115-16. 
5 Id. at 170-72. 
6 Id. 
7 See id. at 18-20. 
6 See id. (noting gross annual income. from businesses totaled $4,311). 
9 Id. at 22-25, 38. 
10 Id. at37-38,61-87, 116-17, 120-23, 175-76, 

2 

000054



and provided Husband with an "allowance" for his discretionary use. 11 But the parties 

did not contribute to any retirement or investment accounts. 12 

During the marriage, Husband helped care for Wife's four ch.ildren.13 He also 

performed yard work and home maintenance, cleaned, and managed the household 

finances.14 Wife also helped care for her children, contributed to the household upkeep, 

and volunteered with the Communily.15 

In March 2014, Wife petitioned the trial court to dissolve the parties' marriage, 

stating there had been an irretrievable breakdown in their relationship.16 Since that 

time, Husband became a certified welder and obtained employment with Natural Light 

Fabric Struclures ("Natural Light"), where he makes a standard hourly wage of $15 and 

overtime hourly wage of $22.50.117 Natural Light also provides Husband with the 

following benefits: allowance for medical insurance; allowance for dental insurance; 

and 401(k) matching. 18 Wife continued to receive her per-capita payments, amounting 

11 Id. at 26, 93-94, 105-06. 
12 Id. at 266. 
13 Id. at 172-73. 
14 ld. at 173. 
15 Id. at 41-42, 101-03. 
16 Stade-Lieske v. Lieske, No. 783-14, Petition at 2 (Mar. 7, 2014). Husband simultaneously 
petitioned for marriage-dissolution in Scott County District Court; but that court 
ultimatc~ly dismissed Husban.d's petition, deferring to the Communily's court system. 
Lieske v. Stade-Lieske, No. 70-FA-14-3740, slip op. at 13-14 (Scott County, Mhm. Nov, 17, 
2014). 
17 Id. at 34, 165-66; Stade-Lieske v. Lieske, No. 783-14, Pet. Ex. 11 ("Pet. Ex."). 
18 Tr. at 168, 265-66. 
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to roughly $65,000 per month.19 She also continued to earn around $550 per month 

from her in-home businesses.20 

In August 2014, the court held a two-day trial.21 Two months later, it ordered 

entry of judgment, dividing the parties' marital property and awarding Husband 

spousal maintenance in the amount of $1,000 per month for a period of 18 months.22 

Husband appealed the court's order with respect to both properly division and 

spousal maintenance.23 We affirmed the court's division of marital property.24 But we 

reserved the court's award of spousal maintenance and remanded with numerous 

instructions for the court's consideration.25 On remand, the court awarded Husband 

spousal maintenance in the amount of $1,500 per month for a period of 18 months.26 

Husband now appeals the court's new award for spousal maintenance.27 

19 Pet. Ex, 8. 
20 Pet. Bxs. 6-7. 
21 Tr. at 1. 
22 Si:ade-Lieske v. Lieske, No. 783-14, Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, Order for 
Judgment, Judgment & Decree at 1, 10-18 (Oct. 23, 2014) ("Order I"). 
23 Stade-Lieske v. Lieske, No. 783-14, Notice of Appeal (Nov. 21, 2014). 
24 Stade-Lieske v. Lieske, No. 040-14, slip op. at 22 (Jun. 8, 2015) (" Appellate Opinion"). 
25 Id. at 8--22. 
26 Stade-Lieske v. Lieske, No. 783-14, Memorandum & Order at 8 (Jan. 28, 2016) ("Order 
II"). 
27 Stade-Lieske v. Lieske, No. 783-14, Notice of Appeal (Feb. 23, 2016). 
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III. Analysis 

We review a court's award of spousal maintenance for an abuse of discretion.28 

"To decide whethe1· a trial court has abused its discretion with respect to a maintenance 

award, we review its findings of fact to see if they are clearly enoneous, and its 

conclusions of law de novo."29 A court's findings of fact are clearly erroneous if they are 

"manifestly contrary to the weight of the evidence or not reasonably supported by the 

evidence as a whole."30 "Thus, we must accept the lower court's findings of fact unless 

upon review we are left with the definite and firm conviction that a mistake has been 

cornmitted.1131 

A. Applicable Law 

As an initial matter, we must note that following the court's second order for 

spousal maintenance, certain amendments to the Community's Domestic Relations 

Code (the "Code") took effect.32 We must therefore dedde whether to apply the 

previous version or amended version of the Code in this appeal. Generally, 11 a court is 

to apply the law in effect at the time it renders its decision, unless doing so would result 

28 Welch v. Welch, 2 Shak. A.C. 11, 17 (Apr. 15, 2009). 
29 Appellate Opinion at 7. 
30 Brooks v. Corwin, 2 Shak. A.C. 5, 6 (Aug. 4, 2008). 
31 SMSC Gaming Enterprise v. Prescott, 2 Shak. A.C. 1, 2 (Aug. 9, 2006). 
32 The court issued Order II on January 28, 2016. Ordet n at 1. The amendments to the 
Code went into effect on Feb~·uary 10, 2016. Letter from Charlie Vig, Chairman, 
Shakopee Mdewakanton Sioux Community to Diane K. Rosen, Regional Director, 
Bul'eau of Indian Affairs (Feb, 10, 2016). 
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in manifest injustice or there is statutory direction or legislative history to the 

contrary."33 

Here, neither the amendments to the Code, nor the resolution in which they were 

adopted demonstrate a legislative intent for them to be prospective only.34 However, 

the amendments to the Code are of such significance, that were we to apply them on 

this appeal, we would be compelled to remand this case and instruct the court to open 

the record for additional evidence, to issue additional findings, and to issue a new 

order, This case has been pending for nearly two and a half years and was tried almost 

one and a half years before the amended version of the Code became effective, The 

parties have poured significant resources into reaching a resolution, under the previous 

version of the Code, We believe that another remand would greatly increase the 

expense to the parties and further delay resolution in this case, which we deem 

manifestly unjust. We thus proceed under the former version of the Code. 

B. Maintenance 

Where parties have not entered into a valid antenuptial agreement or stipulation, 

the court may award spousal maintenance when it deems appropriate,35 In determining 

the amount and duration of spousal maintenance, 

[t]he Tl'ibal Court shall consider the length of the maniage; contributions, 
financial and non-financial, of both spouses; the standard of living to 

33 Bradley v. Sch. Bd. of City of Richmond, 416 U.S. 696, 711 (1974). 
3'I See generally General Council Resolution No. 11-10-15-002 (Nov. 10, 2015), 
35 Code, Ch. III,§ 6. 
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which each spouse has become accustomed; the financial needs of both 
spouses; and any other factor the Court finds appropriate. The Tribal 
Court shall not consider misconduct of either spouse when making its 
determination.36 

1. Length of Marriage 

The first consideration is the length of the parties' marriage.37 In its January 2016 

Order, the court determined that the length of the parties' marriage did not weigh in 

favor of permanent maintenance or in favor of greater rnaintenance.38 In reaching this 

decision, the court reflected on Husband1s ability to obtain employment immediately 

foJlowing initiation of this action and failure to demonstrate a need.39 But by engaging 

in this analysis, the court conflated the length-of-marriage consideration with the 

financial-needs consideration. 

As we said in our previous opinion, "the longer the marriage, the greater the 

chances that maintenance will be awarded, particularly where one spouse is out of the 

workforce during the entirety of the marriage."40 Here, the parties were married for 18 

years, and Husband remained out of the workforce for virtually the entirety of that 

time.41 While it may be true that Husband gained skills working in his shop, he still 

36 Id. 
37 Code, Ch. III, § 6. 
38 Order II at 1-2. 
39 Jd. 
40 Appellate Opinion at 8-9, 
41 Tr. at 13, 170--72. 
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forewent any type of career development at the request of Wife.42 He is now entering 

the workforce without the benefit of 18 years of career advancement. A spousal­

maintenance award of $1,500 per month fol' a mere 18 months cannot offset Husband's 

foregone opportunity to work for 18 years. 

Our position is supported by Minnesota common law. In Nardini v. Nardini, the 

Minnesota Suprem~ Court recognized that where a spouse has acted as a homemaker, a 

marriage-dissolution poses unique challenges.43 The court noted that the spouse 

becomes deprived of an interest in the only source of income he or she has known, "and 

after foregoing the oppol'tunity to carve out a separate business career which might 

survive a marriage dissolution, [he or] she is expected to abandon what [he or] she has 

known as a career as a homemaker and embai:k on some undefined new career."44 

Regardless of whether Husband can or cannot propedy be deemed a homemaker, he 

remained outside of the workforce for 18 years, helped care of Wife's children, 

maintained the parties' home, and managed the parties' finances.45 And during that 

time, he relied solely on Wife's per-capita payments.'16 Therefore, the principles upon 

which Nardini was decided apply equally in this case. 

42 Id. at 170-72. 
43 414 N.W.2d 184, 198 (Minn. 1987). 
44 ld. 
45 See Tr. at 13, 38, 170-73. 
•16 Id. at 22-25, 38, 
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This consideration weighs heavily in favor of a higher and longer-term 

maintemmce award. Given the potential raises that Husband has foregone over the 18-

year marriage, we believe that at least $2,000 is necessary to mitigate the reduced 

income he is now achieving. This accounts for an assumed average annual pay raise of 

3% with no promotions. We also believe that given the skills Husband has obtained 

during the marriage, nine years-or half of the marriage-should suffice for Husband 

to make up for his lost time in the workforce. 

2. Financial and Non-financial Contributions 

The General Council has determined that both financial and non-financial 

contributions to a marriage are relevant when awarding spousal maintenance.47 In its 

January 2016 Order, the court made no clear indication of whether the parties' 

contributions to the marriage ultimately weighed in favor of spousal maintenance and 

the amount and duration thereof.411 It noted that Wife made virtually all of the financial 

contributions, through her per-capita payments, which the court believed weighed in 

favor of no award of spousal maintenance.49 But as we said in our prior opinion, while 

·wife was virtually the exclusive financial providel' in the marriage, (/the fact that she 

47 Code, Ch. III1 § 6. 
48 See 01'der II at 3-4. 
49 Id. at 4. 
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also requested Husband quit his job weighs in favor of awarding spousal 

maintenance.1150 

The court also noted that both parties made non-financial contributions to the 

marriage.51 However, the court failed to explain how the parties' non-financial 

contributions-aside from Husband's time working in his shop--weighed in its award 

of spousal maintenance.52 As we said in our prior opinion, the coul't must do more than 

make factual findings; it must apply those findings in its analysis.53 Here, we note again 

that Husband made significant non-financial contributions to the marriage. He assisted 

with the care of Wife's four children, maintained the house, and managed the parties' 

finances. 54 These contributions added value to the parties' marriage, and they also 

weigh in favor of higher and longer-term spousal maintenance. 

Finally, in its January 2016 Order, the court indicated that its finding that 

Husband was at fault for the parties not having investment and retirement accounts did 

not impact its decision. While we appreciate the court's clarification as to the impact of 

50 Appellate Opinion at 12. 
51 Order II at 4. 
52 See id. 
53 Appellate Opinion at 12; see also In re Civil Commitment of Spicer, 853 N .W.2d 803, 811 
(Minn. App. 2014) (" An order does not permit meaningful appellate review if it does 
not identify the facts that the district court has determined to be true and l-he facts on 
which the district court's decision is based." (emphasis added)). 
54 Tr. at 172-73. 
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its finding, we remain convinced that the court's finding was clearly erroneous.55 As we 

stated in our previous opinion: 

[T]he record is clear that both parties spent a significant amount of Wife's 
per-capita payments during the marriage. They did a great deal of 
traveling, often to Disney World, which was Wife's preferred destination. 
And both spouses spent significant amounts on gambling, with Wife 
spending hundreds of thousands of dollars per year on gambling in 2010, 
20111 2012, and 2013.56 

Given Wife's financial contributions to the marriage and Husband's non-

financial contributions to the marriage, in Hght 0£ Wife's request that l:Iusband not 

work, this factor also weighs in favor of higher and longer-term maintenance. 

3. Standard of Living 

The third consideration for spousal maintenance is the parties' standard of living 

during the marriage.57 In its January 2016 Order, the court took our previous opinion as 

a direction for it to "ascertain what a reasonable middle-class lifestyle [is)."58 The court 

went on to review evidence submitted by Wife regarding what it means to be "middle 

class."59 

The court's interpretation of our previous opinion is peculiar. We did not 

instruct the court to define a middle-class lifestyle. We stated: 

5s Appellat-e Opinion at 11. 
56 Id, at 1J (footnotes omitted). 
57 Code, Ch. III,§ 6. 
5& Order II at 4. 
59 Id. at 4-5, 
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Because divorce requires establishing two households instead of one, it is 
almost always true that both parties will not be able to maintain the~ same 
standard of living once divorced that they enjoyed while married. But the 
fact that parties cannot continue to live at the marital standard of living 
does not mean that the party with less income must get by with only the bare 
necessities of life while the other spouse ma-intnins a high st:andard of living.60 

In light of this reasoning, we went on to observe that while it is "reasonable that a 

member spouse may continue to enjoy a higher standard of living post-divorce than the 

non-member spouse," 61 the non-member's established standard of living is not 

"irrelevant to the maintenance analysis." 62 We instructed the court to take into 

consideration ·wife's ability to "afford to support a reasonable middle-class lifestyle."63 

Here, Wife receives well over $700,000 in per-capita payments per year.M While 

we recognize and appreciate that she has her own expenses, which are significant, her 

income more than suffices to support her expenses and substantial maintenance to 

Husband. 

60 Appellate Opinion at 13 (emphasis added) (quotation omitted); see also Arundel v. 
Arundel, 281. N.W.2d 663,666 (Minn. 1979) ("Such support is not simply that which will 
supply her with the bare necessities of life, but such a sum as will keep her in the 
situation and condition in which respondent's means entitle her to live."), 
61 Appellate Opinion at 14; see also Welch, 2 Shak A.C. at 22 (reasoning that "the unique 
character of per capita income is a proper factor for the Trial Court to consider in 
evaluating a request for spousal maintenance, including the fact that the nonmember 
seeking spousal maintenance cannot be considered to have assisted in generating it"). 
62 Appellal'e Opinion at 1.4. 
63 Id. 
<11 Pet. Ex. 8. 
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The court went on to evaluate Husband's budgetary needs.65 This, again, was a 

conflation of considerati.ons. The parties were married for 18 years.66 During the 

duration of their relationship, they lived in a home valued at $850,000, they purchased 

numerous vehicles, traveled often, and spent significant money on gambling. 67 They 

also paid for gym memberships, personal training, healthy food, and nice clothing.68 

While it is true, as the court emphasized, that they overspent, this fact does not rebuff 

the conclusion that their standard of Jiving was high. 

To be sure, Husband may no longer be able to have the standard of living he 

once enjoyed. But he is entitled to spousal maintenance that will support more than a 

minimum budget for a single person with no children.69 The standard of living that the 

parties enjoyed during the marriage weighs in favor of higher spousal maintenance to 

help support Husband's enjoyment of certain amenities that some married couples have 

not enjoyed, such as nicer clothing and food, a comfortable homE!, and travel. 

4. Financial Needs 

The fourth consideration in awarding spousal maintenance is the financial needs 

of both spouses.70 In its January 2016 Order, the court relied on Welch, in which this 

Comt held that "what are commonly considered luxw:y items cannot be considered to 

65 Order II at 5-6. 
66 Tr. at 13. 
67 Id. at 27, 37-38, 61-871 116-17, 120-23, 175-76; Pet. Ex. 16. 
68 Tr. 128, 188-90, 
69 See Order II at 5, 
7o Code, Ch. III,§ 6. 
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serve to meet 'financial needs/ even if a party has become accustomed to them over 

thne," 71 The court then proceeded to evaluate the budgets presented by the parlies.72 

In our previous opinion, we expressly instructed the court to consider Husband's 

need for retirement.73 The court rejected our instruction, noting that it was Husband's 

own fault that he had not invested in his retirement while in the mardage.74 But the fact 

that Husband previously chose not to save for retirement does not negate his current 

need to save for retirement. :Moreover, Husband's choice was not entirely unreasonable, 

given his circumstances. }fo and Wife were married for 18 years, during which time 

they received hundreds of thousands of dollars in per-capita payments per year, with 

the significant likelihood that such payments would continue.75 Assuming that 

Husband did not foresee the marriage dissolving from day one, it was reasonable for 

him to rely on Wife's per-capita payments to continue to support them.76 Thus, 

Husband's need for retire1Ttent savings drastica1ly changed as a result of this marriage-

71 Order II at 6 (citing Welch, 2 Shak. A.C. at 13). 
nJd. 

73 Appellate Opinion at 16. 
74 Id. at 6-7. 
75 Tr. at 13, 22-27; see Gaming Revenue Allocation Amendments to Business Proceeds 
Distribution Ordinance, Otdinance No. 10-27-93-002. 
76 We noted the same, with respect to Wife's budget, in our previous opinion: 
"[A]lthough Wife also has no retirement funds, the reality is that unless the Community 
were to cease its gaming enterprise (a possibility we view as being highly unlikely), she 
will not need any source of revenue other than per-capita payments," Appellate Opinion 
at 18. 
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dissolution . .Retirement savings in the amount of $500 per month must be included as 

an expense for Husband's monthly budget. 

In oul' previous opinion, we found that the c;oud clearly erred by finding that 

Husband can make $3,085 per month-$487 of which was overtime pay-when 

Husband provided uncontroverted tesHmony that Natural Light was no longer offering 

overtime hours.77 Nonetheless, in its January 2016 Order, the court retained its finding 

that Husband's monthly income is $3,085 per month.78 This finding is, again, clearly 

erroneous. And regardless, we are of the opinion that the court should not include 

overtime pay in its award of spousal maintenance. A spouse should not be expected to 

work more than 40 hours per week to afford his or her reasonable living expenses. 

Therefore, I-fusband' s monthly income is $2,598. 

We also found that the court clearly erred by not accounting for taxes taken from 

Husband's income.79 In its January 2016 Order, the com:t attempted to correct this error, 

by accounting for $680.90 in monthly taxes.80 This tax amount, however, was calculated 

based on a monthly income of $3,085.81 Because we are concerned with only $2,598 of 

Husband's monthly income, we have~ adjusted the monthly tax amount to $573.40, 

77 Appellate Opinion at 17. 
78 Order II at 5. 
79 Appellat-e Opinion at 17. 
80 Order II at 5. 
s1 Id. 
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which assumes roughly the same tax rate as used in the court's January 2016 Order,82 

Thus, Husband's net income should be $2,024.60 per month. 

In our previous opinion, we also found that the court clearly erred in making the 

following findings with respect to Husband's monthly expenses: (1) that $700 pet 

month constituted a reasonable expense for housing; and (2) that Husband should have 

no expense for home maintenance, electricity, heating, and water/sewer/gai·bage.83 In 

its January 2016 Order, the court found that Husband's reasonable housing expense was 

$900 per month.84 But the court provided no justification for this finding, and we again 

hold that it amounts to clear error. Given the standard of living established by the 

parties, ,ve agree with Husband that $1,800 pet month is an appropriate budget for a 

modest three-bedroom home. 

The court did include a budget for electricity and heating, but no budget for 

home maintenance or watet/sewer/garbage.85 Again, we hold that the court's finding 

that these expenses should not be included in Husband's monthly budget is clear enor. 

For the above reasons, we believe that Husband's budget should be adjusted 

from $3,580 per month to $5,000 per month. And in light of our conclusion that 

Husband's net income is $2,024.60 per month, we conclude that he has a monthly deficit 

of approximately $3,000. It is this deficit that spo1.1sal~maintenance should mitigate. 

82 Id. at 5. 
83 Appellat·e Opinion at 17. 
84 Order II at 3. 
85 Order II at 3. 
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Finally, in our previous opinion, we instructed the court to do two things: (1) 

"considel' that Wife will have reduced vehicle payments from the budget she originally 

presented," because she intended to sell many of her vehicles; and (2) "subject Wife's 

budget to the same scrutiny as Husband's when deciding what level of maintenance she 

can afford."86 Instead, the court again accepted Wife's proposed budget without 

adjustment.87 However, because Wife's income is sufficient for her to satisfy her 

proposed expenses and Husband's monthly incom.e deficit, we find this error harmless. 

Given the above reasoning, we believe the financial-needs factor weighs in favor 

of a spousal-maintenance award in the amount of $3,000 per month. 

5. Other Considerations 

The Code provides that the court may consider other factors when awarding 

spousal maintenance.88 In its January 2016 Order, the court noted two additional 

considerations that it believed "favored no award of maintenance."89 First, the couxt 

considered the inequality in the parties' support of each other's interests.90 Specifically, 

the court compared Wife's attendance to and financial support for Husband's drag 

races, with Husband's efforts to avoid vacations to Florida with Wife.91 Second, the 

86 Appellate Opinion at 18. 
87 Order II at 7. 
as Code, Ch, III, § 6. 
89 Order II at 7--8. 
90 Id. at 7. 
91 Id. 
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court considered Husband's credibility.92 It reflected on what it found to be false <)r 

unsupported representations by Husband regarding his actual expenses and Wife's 

conduct during the marriage.93 But regardless of whether the coul't correctly 

characterized Husband's actions <luting the marriage and dissolution proceedings, the 

Domestic Relations Code expressly prohibits the court from considering "misconduct of 

either spouse when making its [maintenance} determination."94 Therefore, the court 

ened, as a matter of law, by incorporating these considerations into its maintenance 

calculation. 

Rather than reflect on Husband's misconduct, the court should have looked to 

our June 2015 opinion, in which we dearly stated that the gross disparity in the parties' 

income "should have militated in favor of a higher and longer-term maintenance 

award."95 The facts relevant to this consideration have not changed since om June 2015 

opinion. Even assuming Husband will always have overtime pay, Wife's income is 

roughly 20 times Husband's.96 And in light of uncontroverted testimony that Husband 

does not have the opportunity to make significantly mOl'e money from his current 

n Id. at 7-8. 
93 Id. 
94 Code, Ch. III, § 6. 
95 Id. at 20. 
96 See Pet. Exs. 4-7, 11. 
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employer,97 the disparity in the parties' income likely will remain significant for the 

foreseeable fulure. 

Husband's spousal mainh~nance should be not only greater than what is 

absolutely necessary to accommodate his bare necessities, but also what is necessary to 

reduce the gross disproportionateness of his income. Further, given the low probability 

that Husband's income will significantly im.prove in the near future, Husband's spousal 

maintenance should continue for a duration far exceeding 18 months, if he is to have 

any opportunity to supplant it with his own income. Therefore, Husband should be 

awarded higher and longer-term spousal maintenance. 

IV. Conclusion 

For all these reasons, we reverse~ the court's order awarding Husband 

maintenance in the amount of $1,500 per month for a period of 18 months. We remand 

with instructions to the court to award Husband maintenance in the amount of $3,000 

per month for a period of 9 years. This award adequately reflects the considerations 

addressed above by ensuring that Husband is able to meet his financial needs, have a 

standard of living that is not untenably disproporlionate to that which he had during 

the marriage, and ensure that he has time to transition into a healthy career. 

We understand that it is unusual for an appellate court to set a maintenance 

amount rather than remanding.98 In this case, however, we find it necessary. After the 

97 Tr. at 250. 
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trial court's first paltry maintenance award, we issued a 23-page opinion outlining the 

error and remanding with explicit instructions. We did not expect that just a few 

months later, the matter would be back before us with the trial co1.nt having left the 

duration of the maintenance award intact and amount of maintenance only increased 

by $500 per month. 

The surprising result of the remand is made even more so when we consider that 

on remand, even Wife argued that Husband was enf:itled to $2,500 per month for five years.99 

Husband argued that he was entitled to permanent spousal~maintenance in the amount 

of $6,000 pel' month.100 Ordinarily, unless the law were clearly to the contrary, a 

maintenance award would fall somewhere between what each of the parties requested. 

But the trial court ignored both the parties' arguments and this Court's instructions, and 

awarded only $1,500 per month for 18 months. Not only did that figure leave us "with 

the definite and firm conviction that a mistake has been committed,"101 but it left us 

98 It is not unprecedented, though. For instance, in Theissen-Nonnemacher, Inc. v. Dutt, the 
Mfonesota Court of Appeals modified judgments entered for both parties, to remedy 
errors made by the disti·ict court 393 N.W.2d 397,401 (Minn. App. 1986). Even in the 
context of marriage-dissolutions, the Minnesota Supreme Court has, on occasion, 
eschewed the traditional practice of remanding unresolved matters for resolution by 
district courts. See John v. John, 322 N.W.2d 347, 348-49 & n.1 (1'Iinn, 1982) (reasoning 
that "the interests of justice require[d] a final disposition," where appellant already had 
three attorneys and numerous postponements and the matter had been "unusually 
protracted"). 
99 See Stade-Lieske v. Ueske, No. 783-14, Pet, Br. at 1 (Sept. 28, 2015) (requesting order for a 
spousal-maintenance award not exceeding $2,500 per month). 
100 Stade-Lieske v. Lieske, No. 783~14, Resp. Br. at 13 (Oct. 19, 2015). 
101 SMSC Gaming Entetprise v. Prescott, 2 Shak. A.C. at 2. 
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with the firm conviction that further remand would be futile-not to mention costly to 

the parties, who deserve to be able to put this dissolution behind them. We hope that 

they may now do so. 

So ordered. 

Dated: July 26, 2016 

2:L 
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Summary 

In the marriage dissolution proceeding which gives rise to this appeal, the Appellant, James Van 

Nguyen ("Nguyen11) contends that the Courts oflhc Shakopee Mdewokanton Sioux Community lack 

personal jurisdiction over him, and also lack su~ject-matter over his marriage. 

The Community's Trial Court has rejected Nguyen's jurisdictional contentions, has denied his 

motion to dismiss, and has established a schedule for pretrial proceedings and for trial. Nguyen seeks 

interlocutory review by this Court of the Trial Court's jurisdictional decision. Rule 31 (a) of lhe Rules of 

Civil Procedure of the Shakopee Mdewakanton Sioux Community Tl'ibal Court ("the Civil Rules") 

provides that a Trial Court order can be appealed only i1~ under federal law, such an order would be 

appealable had it been issued by a federal courl. And under federal law, the decision of a United States 

District Comt denying a motion to dismiss on either personal or subject-matter jurisdictional grm.mds is 

not appealable until the District Court has finally resolved all the issues that are pending between the 

parties in the litigation. 

We therefore conclude thut at this time the Trial Court's denial of Nguyen's motion to distniss is 

no( now properly appeulable to this Court. 

Dnckg1•011nd 

Gustafson is a membe1· of the Shakopee Mclewakanton Sioux Community ("the Community"), 

Nguyen is not a member ofany Indian tribe, The parties have been married for approximutely three and 
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one-half years, and they are the parents of one child, who is a member of the Community. Both before 

and during their marriage they have been involved in several prnceedings in the Community's courts 1• 

Gustafson filed a Petition, seeking lo dissolve the matTiagc, and seeking orders both with respect to the 

child and with respect to certain real and personal property, on July 10, 2017. Nguyen moved to dismiss; 

and afte1· receiving briefing and hearing oral argument, Judge Henry M. Buffalo, Jr. denied that motion on 

November 10, 2017, explaining his decision in a forty-five-page w1itten memorandum. 

On December 4, 2017, Nguyen filed a Notice of Appeal with tWs Court, asking us to review 

Judge Buffalo's decision, and on December 8, 2017 Nguyen asked Judge Buffalo to stay the effect the 

decision, and to certify for immediate appeal the jurisdictional questions resolved therein. On December 

11, 2017, Judge Buffalo denied those requests; and also on December 11, 2017, we directed the parties to 

brief the single question of whether Nguyen's appeal could properly be heard by tis before the Trial Coi1rt 

has finally resolved all the claims presented to it by the parties. 

Having now considered the arguments raised in the parties' briefs, we conclude that an 

interlocutory appeal of Judge Buffalo's November 10, 2017 decision cannot properly be heard by this 

Court. 

Discussion 

Rule 3 l(a) of our Rules of Civil Procedure provides; 

Appealable Orders. In any action before the Tribal Court where n three-Judge 
panel has not heard the matter, a party may appeal any decision of the assigned 
Judge that would be appealable if the decision had been made by a judge of a 
United States District Cot1rt. Actions that are heard by a three-judge panel of the 
Tribal Court under Rule 25 shall be deemed to have been the subject of a 
consolidated trial and appeal, and decision of tho Tribnl Court in those matters 
shall not be the subject of further appeal. 

As a general rule, federal courts of appeal "have jurisdiction of appeals from all final 

decisions of the distTict comis of the United States .... " 28 U .S.C. § 1291. "Ordinarily, a 

district court order is not final until it has resolved all claims as to all parties." See Porter -v. 

Zook, 803 P.3d 694, 696 ( 4th Cir. 2015). That is, "a final decision is one that ends the litigation 

on the merits and leaves nothing for the court to do but execute the judgment." See Ray Haluch 

Grnvel Co. v. Cent. Pension Fund oflnt'I Union of Operating Eng'rs, 134 S.Ct. 773, 779 (2014) 

(intemal quotation marks omitted). Here, Judge Buffalo's order is not "final" because it only 

1 The Novetriber I 0, 2017 decision of the Triul Comt discusses iu detail the past and pending judicial proceedings in 
the Com1mmlty's courts imd in other courts. 
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adjudicates the jurisdiction of the Tribal Comt as it pettains to the Petition while leaving merits 

of the Petition unresolved. 

Nguyen argues, however that his appeal should nonetheless be heard under the "collateral 

order doctrine", which creates a narrow exception to the generally applicable requirement of 

finality2. In federal jurisprudence, the collateral order doctrine identifies a "small class [of 

decisions] which finally deten11ine claims of right sepm·able from, and collateral to, rights 

asserted in the action, too important to be denied review and too independent of the cause itself 

to 1·equire that appellate consideration be deferred until the whole case L':l adjudicatccl." Cohen v. 

Beneficial Industrial Loan Corp., 337 U.S. 541, 546 (1949). To qualify for collateral order 

review, an order must "[l] conclusively determine lhe disputed question, [2] resolve an 

important issue completely sepurate from the merits of the action, and [3] be effectively 

unreviewablc on appeal from a final judgment." See Will v. Hallock, 546 U.S. 345, 349 (2006) 

(alterations in original) (internal quotation marks omitted). The collateral order doctrine is a 

"narrow ex.ception" to the final-judgment rule, Pena-Calleja v. Ring, 720 F.3d 988, 989 (8th Cir. 

2013), and the Supreme Court has "repeatedly stressed that the 'narrow' exception should stay 

that way and never be allowed to swallow the general rule ... that a party is entitled to bring a 

single appeal, to be deferred unti I final judgment has been entered.'' See Digital Equip. Corp. v. 

Desktop Direct, 511 U.S. 863, 869 (1994) (quoting United States v. Hollywood Motor Car Co., 

458 U.S. 263,270 (1982)); see also Will, 546 U.S. at 350, 126 S.Ct. 952 (explaining that, 

"although the Court has been asked many times to expand the small class of collaterally 

appealable orders, we have instead kept it narrow and selective in its membership" (internal 

quotation marks omitted)). 

2 Nguyen's Notice of Basis for Appeal and Request for Stay of Proceeding filed December 8, 
2017 states that his appeal is "an appeal of a Collateral Order pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1292 and 
Cohen v. Beneficial Industrial Loan Corp., 337 U.S. 541 (1949)." Notice at 1. But Nguyen is 
inconect insofar as his statement indicates that the collateral order doctrine, when satisfied, gives 
rise to jurisdiction under Section 1292, which lists the specific types of interlocutory orders that 
arc appcaluble notwithstanding the finality of judgment, in addition to setting forth the process 
for taking appeals of orders involving controlling questions of law so certified by the district 
court. The Supreme Court case upon which Nguyen relics--Cohen v. Beneficial Industrial Loan 
Corp.-makes clear that when the elements of the collateral order doctrine are met, the result is a 
final appealable judgment under 28 U.S,C. § 1291. Cohen, 337 U.S. at 546. 
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Federal precedent across the Circuits dictates that a denial of a motion for lack of 

personal jurisdiction is not a decision that falls within the collateral order doctrine. This is 

because such a denial does not prevent the aggrieved party from vindicating rights by appealing 

that decision after final judgment 011 the merits. See, e.g., Van Cauwenberghe v. Biard, 486 U.S. 

517, 527 (1988) ("Because the right not to be subject to a binding judgment may be effectively 

vindicated following final judgment, we have held that the denial of a claim of lack of 

jurisdiction is not an immediately appealable collateral order."); see also Casslrer v. Kingdom of 

Spain, 616 F.3d 1019, 1024-26 (9th Cir. 2010) (stating that a <(denial of a motion to dismiss for 

lack of personal jurisdiction is neither a final decision nor appealable tmder the collateral order 

doctrine"); S & Davis Int11, Inc. v. The Republic of Yemen, 218 F.3d 1292, 1297 (I 1th Cir. 2000) 

("The denial of a motion to dismiss for lack of personal jurisdiction is not, in itself: immediately 

appealable under the 'collateral order doctrine' .... "). 

Similarly, while the denial of a motion to dismiss for lack of subject matter jurisdiction 

predicated on a claim of immunity is inm1ediately appealable, see j\lfitchel/ v. Forsyth, 472 U.S. 

511, 525 (1985), "the denial of a motion to dismiss for lack of subject-mattcrjmisdiction on 

other grounds is generally not subject to interlocutory revie'vv," Intel Corp. v. Commonwealth Sci, 

& Indus. Research Organisation, 455 F'.3d 1364, 1369 (Fed. Cir. 2006) (citing Catlin v. United 

States, 324 U.S. 229,236 (1.945) ("ID]enial of a motion to dismiss, even when the motion is 

based uponjurisdictional grounds, is not immediately reviewable.")); see Gov't of the Virgin 

Ls·lands v. Hodge, 359 F.3d 312, 321 (3d Cir. 2004) ("'[N]on-immunity based motions to dismiss 

for want of subject matter jurisdiction are not ordinarily entitled to interlocutory 1·cy iew.',, 

(quotingMerrittv. Shuttle, Inc., 187 F.3d 263,268 (2d Cir. 1999)). Here, Nguyen's challenge to 

the Tribal Court's subject-matter jurisdiction is not an immunity-based challenge, but instead is 

predicated on his assertion that the Court lacks subject matter jmisdiction pursuant to Montana v. 

United States, 540 U.S. 544 (1981), the Indian Child Welfare Act, and Public Law 280. As a 

result, federal case lavv dictates that Nguyen's challenge is a "11011-inummity based motion [] to 

dismiss for want of subject matter jurisdiction" that is not immediately reviewable. See Hodge, 

359 F.3cl at 321. 

Without reference to the foregoing case law, NgL1yen argues that he has satisfied the tlu·ee 

elements of the collateral order doctrine. As to the third element, Nguyen cites two federnl cases 

for the pl'Oposition that his motion to dismiss "would otherwise be effectively unreviewable (the 
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asserted rights forjul'isdiclion of the Tribal Court dissolution proceeding would be destl'oyedf if 

Judge Buffalo's Order is not immediately appealable. Notice at 1. But neither case supports his 

argument. Ill the first, the Supreme Court held "that Slates and state entities that claim to be 

'arms of the State' may talce advantage of the collateral order doctrine to appoal a dist1fot court 

order denying a claim of Eleventh Amendment immunity." Puerto Rico Aqueduct & Sewer 

Auth. v. Metcalf & Eddy, Inc., 506 U.S. 139, 147 (1993). Thus, Puerto Rico Aqueduct is 

consistent with the aforementioned line of federal authority holding that denials of claims of 

immunity are immed iatcly appealable. After all, the Coul't' s "ultimate justificationn for its 

hokUng in Puerto Rico Aqueduct was "the importance of ensuring that the States' dignitary 

interests can be fully vindicated" through application of immunity-an interest noticeably absent 

in the matter before the Tribal Court. See id. at 146. 

United Stcttes v. Archer-Daniely-Midland Co., 785 F.2d 206, 210 (8th Cir. 1986), is also 

unpersuasive. In Archer-Daniel~·-lvlidland Co., the court held that the district court order 

denying defendants' motion contending that the government violated the rule protecting the 

secrecy of grand jury proceedings was an immediately appealable collateral order in part because 

it was "effectively unreviewable on appeal from a final judgmene' Id. The Court reasoned that 

"[a]ny hatm to [defendants'] interests which are sought to bo protected by keeping grand jury 

proceedings secret cannot be undone by a later reversal of the district court order." id. Further, 

the Court distinguished its decision from the Supreme Court's conclusion in Firestone Tire & 

Rubber Co. v, Risjord, 449 U.S. 368,377 (1981), that denial of a motion to disqualify an 

opposing party's counsel may not be appealed under the collateral order doctrine because such 

an order can be effectively reviewed on appeal from a final judgment. The Court concluded that 

unlike in Firestone, the inability to inm1ediately appeal the order would result in losing "the legal 

and practical value" of the rights defendants have asserted to the secrecy of the grand jury 

proceedings. Archer-Daniels.,Midfand Co,, 785 F.2d at 210. 

Unlike in the situation in Archer-Dcmiels-.Midland, Nguyen's inability to immediately 

appeal Judge Buffalo's order does not t'esult in loss of"the legal and practical value" of the 

rights he has asserted. While Nguyen argues that he would be prejudiced by being forced to 

litigate the merits of a case over which the Tribal Court does not have jurisdiction, he 

nonetheless retains the ability to challenge the Court's jurisdiction on appeal aflcr resolution of 

the merits. If that challenge is successful, Nguyen may also access the relief he now seeks: 
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dismissal of the Petition, Therefore, this is not a situation like in Archer-Daniels-Midland where 

inability to immediately appeal extinguishes the rights being advanced. 

Finally, Nguyen cites us to a decision of the Minnesota Court of Appeals> McGowan v. 

Our Saviour's Lutheran Church, 527 N. W.2cl 830 (Minn. 1995), in which interlocutory appeal 

was pen11itted from the denial of a motion to dismiss on personal jurisdiction grounds. But, 

whatever the force of the Al cGowan decision has for Minnesota state courts under Minnesota 

law, it does not reflect the federal precedents that are incorporated in, and govem, our Civil 

Rules. 

Because Nguyen's challenges to the Trial Court's subject matter and personal jurlscliction 

are reviewable after adjudication of the merits of Gustafson's Petition, federal precedent makes it 

clear that it is inappropriate for us to permit interlocutory review of those challenges under the 

collateral order doctTine. 

IT THEREI?ORE IS ORDERED that the instant appeal is dismissed, without prejudice, as 

procedurally premature under Rule 31 (a) of the Rules of Civil Procedure of the Shakopee 

Mclewakanton Sioux Community Tribal Court 

Dated: Jan. 30, 2018 
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